

# CITY OF ORTING

# PERSONNEL POLICIES & PROCEDURES MANUAL

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1 – Introduction	
1.01 Purpose	5
1.02 Intent of Policies	
1.03 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy	6
1.04 Reasonable Accommodation of Disabilities	
1.05 Reasonable Accommodation of Religious Beliefs	6
1.06 Workplace Anti-Harassment Policy	
1.07 Sexual Harassment Prohibited	
1.08 Discrimination/Harassment Complaint Procedure	8
1.09 Employment of Relatives	
1.10 Change in Circumstances/Notification Requirement for Consensual Romantic Relations	
1.11 Contact with New Media	
SECTION 2 – Employment and Classification	
2.01 Employee Position Classifications	12
2.02 Recruitment, Applications and Selection	13
2.03 Promotions	14
2.04 Hours of Work	15
2.05 Attendance	
2.06 Personnel Records & Files	
2.07 Performance Reviews	17
2.08 Supervisor's Approach to Performance Reviews	
2.09 Inadequate Job Performance – Corrective Action Plan	
2.10 Reduction-In-Force	
2.11 Resignation	
2.12 Identification of Employees	18
SECTION 3 - Compensation	
3.01 Your Paycheck	
3.02 Complaints or Concerns	
3.03 Employee Salary and Wage Plan	
3.04 Overtime and Compensatory Time Off	22
SECTION 4 – Expense Reimbursement: Travel, Meals, and Lodging	
4.01 Purpose and Administration	
4.02 City Employees and City Officials	
4.03 Advance Travel Funds	
4.04 Claims and Approval Process	
4.05 Use of City Charge Cards	26
SECTION 5 – Time Off and Benefits	20
5.01 Legal Holidays	
5.02 Insurance Benefits	
5.03 Sick Leave	
5.04 Vacation Time	
5.05 Bereavement Leave	
5.06 Jury Duty Leave	

5.07 Military Leave	33
5.08 Leave for Spouses/Domestic Partners of Military Personnel	
5.09 Pregnancy/Childbirth Disability Leave	
5.10 Leave Due to Domestic Violence or Sexual Assault	
5.11 Disability Leave	
5.12 Leave Due to Inclement Weather	
5.13 Unauthorized Absence	
5.14 Retirement	
5.15 Wellness Program	
SECTION 6 – Employee Responsibilities	
6.01 Personal Appearance	37
6.02 Computer Usage	
6.03 Computer Usage Supplement: Email & Internet Etiquette Tips	
6.04 Cellular Telephones	
6.05 Use of City Property	
SECTION 7 – Standard of Conduct and Discipline	15
7.01 Employee Suggestions and Concerns	45
SECTION 8 – Code of Ethics and Policy for Reporting Improper Governmental Action and	1
Protecting Employees against Retaliation	-
8.01 Prohibited Conduct	46
8.02 Prohibited Conduct after Leaving City	
8.03 Procedure for Reporting Improper Government Action	
8.04 Conflict of Interest and Outside Employment	
8.05 Confidentiality	
8.06 Contact with New Media	51
SECTION 9 – Health, Safety and Security	
9.01 Workplace Health & Safety	52
9.02 Safety & Health Program	52
9.03 Smoke-Free Workplace	52
9.04 Drug-Free Workplace	
9.05 Assistance Program / Voluntary Referral	54
9.06 Compliance with Drug-Free Workplace Act	
9.07 Compliance with Federal Regulations Applicable to Commercial Drivers	55
9.08 Drug and Alcohol Testing Program for CDL Drivers	
9.09 Refusal by a Commercial Driver to Submit to an Alcohol or Drug Test	57
9.10 Securing Information from Previous Employers	
9.11 Consequences for CDL Drivers of Engaging in Prohibited Behaviors and/or of Positive	e Drug or
Alcohol Test Results	
9.12 Workplace Privacy/Searches	58
9.13 Accident, Incident, & Claims Reporting Procedures	58
9.14 Inclement Weather	
9.15 Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness	
SECTION 10 – Changes in Employment	
10.01 Promotion, Demotion and Transfer	60

10.02 Layoff and Recall	60
10.03 Separation from Employment	61
10.04 Separation Procedures	

# CITY OF ORTING PERSONNEL POLICIES & PROCEDURES MANUAL

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.01 Purpose.

The City of Orting places the highest value on its employees. We wish to see satisfied workers, with the support necessary to achieve the objectives of each position. The City believes that clear, consistent personnel policies contribute to greater job satisfaction. All employees and new hires are required to be familiar with these policies.

These personnel policies serve as a guide to the City of Orting's current employment practices and procedures. The City of Orting retains the right to repeal, suspend, revoke, terminate, revise or modify these policies and every effort will be made to promptly inform employees of any changes to these policies.

If an employee has any questions about the policies herein or would like to seek clarification, the employee must promptly contact his/her supervisor or the City Personnel Director.

#### 1.02 Intent of Policies.

These policies, and this handbook, are not a contract, express or implied, or any type of promise or guarantee of specific treatment upon which an employee may rely, or a guarantee of employment for any specific duration. Although the City desires long-term employment relationships, it is recognized this may not always occur and either the employer or employee may decide to terminate employment. Unless specific rights are granted in written employment contracts, civil service rules, or collective bargaining agreements, all employees of the City are considered at-will employees and may be terminated from City employment at any time, with or without cause and with or without notice. No supervisor, Department Manager or representative of the City, other than the Mayor or their designee, has authority to enter into any agreement with an employee for employment for any specified period or duration, or to make any written commitments to the contrary.

These personnel policies apply to all City of Orting employees. In cases where these policies conflict with any Civil Service rules and regulations, provisions of a collective bargaining agreement, City ordinance or state or federal law, the terms of that law, rule or agreement prevail. In all other cases, these policies apply. In the event of the amendment of any ordinance, rule, or law incorporated in this document or upon which these provisions rely, these personnel policies shall be deemed amended in conformance with those changes.

As the need arises, the City Council may modify these policies and, by ordinance or resolution, may enact changes to compensation or benefit levels. The City Administrator may deviate from these policies in particular situations, especially in an emergency, to achieve the primary mission of serving the City's citizens. Employees may request specific changes to these policies by submitting suggestions to their Department Manager or the City Administrator or City Personnel Director.

The City retains the right to administer or implement these policies appropriate to the particular situation or occurrence. The City also retains the right to revise, supplement or rescind these policies without prior notice to employees. However, union representatives for the respective bargaining units representing City

employees will be given a copy of any proposed changes to these policies for a 14-day (two (2) weeks) comment period prior to implementation.

# 1.03 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy. 1

The City of Orting is an Equal Opportunity Employer. All employees have the right to work in a discrimination-free environment. The City will not permit or condone any unlawful discrimination in the workplace. All employment decisions will be made without regard to race, color, sex, sexual orientation/gender identity, sexual identity, creed, religion, age, marital status, national origin, the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability, or the use of a trained dog guide or service animal by a person with a disability, genetic information, military or honorably discharged veteran status, or any other basis prohibited by state, local or federal laws.

If you experience or witness conduct that you feel is discriminatory, please promptly raise the matter for discussion and review so that the City can investigate and take appropriate action. You are encouraged to approach and report observations and experiences to your supervisor or the City Administrator or the City Personnel Director, as you feel is appropriate.

Retaliation against an employee who brings a complaint of discrimination, reports allegations of discrimination, or participates in an investigation of a complaint is prohibited and shall not be tolerated.

#### 1.04 Reasonable Accommodation of Disabilities.

The City complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and all applicable state and local fair employment practice laws, and is committed to providing equal employment opportunities to qualified individuals with disabilities. Consistent with this commitment, the City will provide a reasonable accommodation to qualified employees with a disability requesting the reasonable accommodation if such an accommodation will allow the individual to perform the essential functions of the job, unless doing so would create an undue hardship or a direct threat to the health or safety of others.

If you would like to request reasonable accommodation, please contact the City Administrator or the City Personnel Director who will work with you and your health care provider to evaluate the need for reasonable accommodation.

#### 1.05 Reasonable Accommodation of Religious Beliefs.

The City respects the religious beliefs and practices of all employees and will make, upon request, an accommodation for such observances when a reasonable accommodation is available that does not create an undue hardship for the City's business or operations. If you would like to request reasonable accommodation, please contact the City Administrator or the City Personnel Director.

#### 1.06 Workplace Anti-Harassment Policy.

It is the City of Orting's policy to foster and maintain a work environment free from discrimination, harassment, and intimidation. The City will not tolerate unlawful harassment of any employee, whether from a co-worker, member of the public, or other third party.

Employees are expected to show respect for each other and the public at all times, despite individual differences.

Harassment is defined as verbal or physical conduct that demeans or shows hostility or aversion toward another employee or member of the public due to that individual's race, color, sex, sexual orientation/gender identity, sexual identity, creed, religion, age, marital status, national origin, the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability, or the use of a trained dog guide or service animal by a person with a disability, genetic information, military or honorably discharged veteran status. Examples of unlawful harassment include, but are not limited to, slurs or demeaning comments to employees or members of the public relating to race, ethnic background, gender, religion, sexual orientation (including gender identity), age, disability, marital status, military status or any other legally protected status.

Any conduct implicating a protected status that has the effect of substantially interfering with an employee's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment may be considered harassment. Any harassment of a fellow employee or member of the public will be cause for disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

Examples of behaviors which are inappropriate and/or illegal on the job referring to (but not limited to) gender, ethnic background, race or any other protected status include negative or offensive comments; jokes; slang names or labels; talking about or calling attention to another employee's physical or mental capacity in a derogatory or offensive manner; displaying nude or sexual pictures, cartoons or calendars on City property.

Retaliation against an employee who brings a complaint of discrimination or harassment, reports allegations of discrimination or harassment, or participates in an investigation of a complaint is prohibited and shall not be tolerated. "Retaliation" means an adverse job action(s) taken against an employee because he or she has complained about discrimination or harassment, given a statement about a discrimination or harassment investigation, participated in an investigation, or supported a complainant.

See Discrimination/Harassment Complaint Procedure for reporting guidance.

#### 1.07 Sexual Harassment Prohibited.

Sexual harassment is a form of discrimination and it is illegal and violates federal and state law and the City's policies. Sexual harassment is also inappropriate and offensive and will not be tolerated by the City of Orting. The City considers sexual harassment a serious offense, and an employee who harasses other employees or members of the public will be disciplined as in any other case of serious employee misconduct.

- a. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of employment position or compensation;
- b. Submission to or rejection of such conduct is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting the member; or
- c. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of substantially interfering with a member's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.

Sexual harassment is not welcome and is personally offensive, interfering with the effectiveness or creating discomfort on the job.

Written examples of sexual harassment include suggestive or obscene letters, emails, notes and invitations. Verbal examples include derogatory comments, slurs, unwanted sexual comments, suggestions, jokes or pressure for sexual favors. Physical examples include assault, pats or squeezes, repeated brushing against someone's body, touching, impeding or blocking movements. Visual examples include leering, sexually-oriented gestures, or display of sexually suggestive or derogatory objects, pictures, cartoons, or posters. Other examples include the threat or insinuation that lack of sexual favors will result in reprisal, such as: withholding support for job appointment, promotion or transfer; rejection on trial period; punitive actions; change of assignments; or a poor performance report.

It is the policy of the City of Orting to prevent and/or eliminate sexual harassment in the workplace, as well as to alleviate any effects sexual harassment may have on the working conditions, or work environment, of an employee. In response to reports of sexual harassment, the City will seek to protect all parties involved from retaliation, false accusations, or future harassment and, where appropriate, will take prompt and adequate remedial measures.

Employees engaging in sexual harassment are subject to discipline, up to and including termination. Retaliation against an employee who brings a complaint of harassment, reports allegations of harassment, or participates in an investigation of a complaint is prohibited and shall not be tolerated. "Retaliation" means an adverse job action(s) taken against an employee because he or she has complained about harassment, given a statement about a harassment investigation, participated in a harassment investigation, or supported a harassment complainant.

See Discrimination/Harassment Complaint Procedure for reporting guidance.

#### 1.08 Discrimination/Harassment Complaint Procedure.

Each employee is responsible for creating an atmosphere free of discrimination and unlawful harassment in any form. Each employee is responsible for respecting the rights of co-workers and others, including the public.

**The procedure an employee is to follow:** The following procedure outlines the steps an employee should follow if the employee believes he/she is experiencing harassment or discrimination on the job:

- (1) If comfortable doing so, identify the offensive behavior to the harasser and request that the offensive behavior stop. If such informal, direct communication is impractical or uncomfortable, or if the offensive behavior does not immediately cease, then proceed to Step (2); and
- (2) Report the incident(s) to the immediate non-involved supervisor within the department, the Department Manager, City Personnel Director, and/or the City Administrator.

When possible, reports should include specific allegations, date(s) of the occurrence(s), the individuals involved, and the names of any witness(es). A non-involved supervisor is defined as the first supervisor in an employee's department who is not the object of the complaint and is not otherwise involved in the harassing behavior. In the event that there is no non-involved supervisor, and the behavior involves the Department Manager, the City Personnel Director, and the City Administrator, the employee should report the incident to the City Attorney.

Any employee involved in reporting a concern, or who participates in an investigation, may request that his /her identity be kept confidential. City officials and those involved in the investigation will honor this request to the extent possible under law, business necessity, and the needs of the investigation. Confidentiality, however, cannot be guaranteed.

The City prohibits retaliation against those who have reported a concern in good faith or participated in the investigation. Violations of the City's prohibition on retaliation will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination

Employees are encouraged to take all action necessary to correct a workplace problem or harassment, so problems can be identified and corrected. They should not refrain from taking these steps due to a fear of retaliation. If retaliation occurs, promptly report such conduct in the same manner as outlined in this section. With a prompt complaint from employees, the City will take all appropriate steps to correct a problem of harassment, discrimination or retaliation in the workplace and will assist the employee affected if further problems arise. Thus, employees are encouraged to utilize these procedures to resolve concerns about workplace discrimination before they allow such conduct to interfere with their performance or such conduct affects their satisfaction with the workplace.

The procedure a supervisor is to follow: Supervisors who are aware of situations involving discrimination, harassment or retaliation must respond to such situations regardless of whether or not a complaint is received. Supervisors who receive complaints or become aware of such incidents must:

- (1) Take prompt action to insure the behavior is not repeated; and
- (2) Promptly notify the appropriate director and the City Personnel Director or the City Administrator of the allegations, including all information known to or received by the supervisor.

Supervisors shall be required to take the above steps and are assigned responsibility for implementing this policy, ensuring compliance with and knowledge of its terms, and for taking immediate and appropriate corrective action if they witness inappropriate behavior or receive a complaint.

Supervisors must maintain open channels of communication to permit employees to raise concerns of sexual or other workplace harassment or discrimination without fear of retaliation, promptly stop any observed harassment or discrimination, and treat harassment and discrimination matters with sensitivity, confidentiality, and objectivity.

A supervisor's failure to carry out these responsibilities may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

**The investigation process:** Employees are prohibited from interfering in any investigation or retaliating against anyone who in good faith has filed a complaint or participated in an investigation of such a complaint. The City requests full, good faith cooperation during the investigation process.

It is the policy of the City that all complaints of discrimination or harassment shall be promptly and thoroughly investigated. The investigation may include interviews with the directly involved parties, and where necessary, with employees who may have observed the alleged harassment or who may be similarly situated with the complaining employee, and who may be able to testify to similar experiences with the accused employee.

The individual assigned to investigate the complaint will have full authority to investigate all aspects of the complaint. Investigative authority includes access to records and the cooperation of any employees involved. No influence will be used to suppress any complaint and no employee will be subject to retaliation or reprisal for filing a complaint in good faith, encouraging others to file a good faith complaint or for offering testimony or evidence in any investigation. Retaliation is prohibited. Employees participating in an investigation shall refrain from discussing the investigation process, interviews, or issues under investigation with other potential witnesses to prevent harmful gossip and to prevent the possibility of tainting the investigation, to the extent permitted by law.

All complaints will be kept confidential to the fullest extent possible during the investigation, and will be disclosed only as necessary to allow an investigation and respond to the complaint and as consistent with the law. Confidentiality, however, cannot be guaranteed. The Public Records Act may require disclosure of an investigation report after an investigation has concluded.

The results of each investigation shall be written and a finding made regardless of whether or not there is a basis for disciplinary action. Disciplinary action, if necessary, may range from a verbal warning to termination, depending on the seriousness of the harassment. If an investigation determines the accused employee engaged in harassment, discrimination or retaliation, appropriate action will be taken, as in the case of any other serious employee misconduct. Such actions may include warnings, verbal and/or written reprimands, a letter to the employee's file, or an employee transfer, demotion, suspension or termination. An employee may at his/her request have a statement of rebuttal or correction placed in his/her personnel file.

Retaliation is prohibited against an employee who brings a complaint of discrimination, reports allegations of discrimination, or participates in an investigation of a complaint and shall not be tolerated.

#### 1.09 Employment of Relatives.

Business necessity requires the establishment of policies regarding the employment of immediate family and members of the same household in order to avoid conflicts of interest or the perception of favoritism and to assure and maintain accountability.

The immediate family or any member of the same household of current City employees will not be employed by the City under any of the following circumstances:

- (1) When one of the parties would have authority or practical power to supervise, appoint, remove, influence salary or compensation decisions or discipline the other;
- When one party would handle confidential material that creates improper or inappropriate access to that material by the other;
- (3) When one party would be responsible for auditing the work of the other; or
- (4) When other circumstances exist that might lead to potential conflict or appearance of a conflict among the parties or conflict between the interest of one or both parties and the best interests of the City.

#### 1.10 Change in Circumstances/ Notification Requirement for Consensual Romantic Relationship.

Employees who become romantically involved with each other, begin sharing living quarters with one another, or become related by marriage must notify their manager and the City Personnel Director of the relationship and confirm in writing that it is consensual. Employees involved in a consensual relationship must conduct themselves in a professional manner at all times (both during and following the termination of the relationship, as applicable) and the relationship should not affect city business. If the relationship ends, the employees must conduct themselves professionally, and notify the City Personnel Director immediately should one party become hostile toward the other while at work. If employees involved in a consensual relationship are unable to work together in a professional, respectful and/or courteous manner as a result of the relationship and or a break-up, one or both of the employees may be required to terminate employment with the City. Employees involved in a consensual relationship may not supervise each other or otherwise create an actual or apparent conflict of interest. If employees involved in a consensual relationship occupy positions in which one directly or indirectly supervises the other or an actual or apparent conflict otherwise exists, the City will consider a transfer the least tenured employee, to the extent that such a transfer is available and/or feasible. However, if a transfer is not possible or practical, one of the employees will be required to terminate their employment relationship with the City. If the employees are unable to agree which employee is to terminate their employment relationship, the City will make the determination based on the needs and operations of the City.

# 1.11 Contact with News Media.

The Mayor or his/her designee or the City Administrator or his/her designee shall be responsible for all official contacts with the news media, including answering of questions from the media. The City Administrator may designate specific employees to give out procedural, factual or historical information on particular subjects. City employees will refrain at all times from disclosing confidential City information to the media. A violation of this provision may subject an employee to discipline, including termination.

#### 2. EMPLOYMENT AND CLASSIFICATION

At the City of Orting, we want you to understand how your wages, benefits and job duties are affected by your employee classification and your job description or title. The City has a classification system that groups positions for compensation purposes based on knowledge, complexity, accountability and working conditions. More information about the classification system is available from the City Personnel Director.

The following are the main job classifications which are used throughout this Handbook.

**Regular Full-Time Employee:** Any employee who is regularly scheduled to work forty (40) hours per work week on a continuing basis.

**Regular Part-time Employee:** An employee who is regularly scheduled to work less than forty (40) hours per work week, on a continuing basis.

**Temporary Employee:** An Employee working a full or part-time schedule for a specified project or period of less than one (1) year (i.e. on-call, seasonal, Provisional Police Officer, emergency staff appointment, etc.).

**Reserve Police Officer:** A Police Officer who receives no compensation for volunteer police work performed but is entitled to paid sick leave benefits.

**Non-exempt Employee:** An employee who is not exempt from the minimum wage, overtime or timecard provisions of the wage and hour laws. Such employees may receive an hourly wage or a salary and are eligible for overtime pay at the rate of one and one-half times the regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours per work day.

**Exempt Employee**: An employee who is exempt from the minimum wage or overtime. Exempt employees generally include supervisory, administrative, and professional employees who are paid on a salary basis. When employees are hired, they will be informed of whether their position is exempt or non-exempt. Exempt employees are not entitled to overtime but may be eligible for additional time off pursuant to the City's Overtime and Compensatory Time off Exempt Employee Policy within this handbook.

#### 2.01 Employee Position Classifications.

A position classification plan will be maintained by the City based on investigation and analysis of the duties and responsibilities of each position. The completed plan will consist of a classification specification for each position, including appropriate title, description of duties and responsibilities, and minimum requirements and/or desirable training, experience or other qualifications.

The Mayor or his/her designee is responsible to assure the preparation of a plan which includes a specification for each classification. Specifications will be prepared after consultation with supervisors and other persons technically familiar with the duties and responsibilities of the job to be performed. Each position will be assigned by the Mayor to one of the classifications of the approved classification plan. Employees will be notified of the classification of their position. The title, as it appears on the specification, will be used to designate the position on official records and payroll.

The classification specifications are hereby declared to have the following definition and scope:

a) They are explanatory only and not restrictive.

- b) In determining a position classification, the specification will be considered as a whole, comparing general duties, responsibilities, minimum qualifications and relationship to other positions in order to obtain an inclusive picture of the position and place it in the appropriate classification.
- c) The outline of principal duties of work performed applies to general duties or tasks and is not intended to prescribe the specific duties of a given position, nor to limit the alteration or modification of detailed tasks involved in the duties of any position, so long as they remain within the general definition of the classification.
- d) The classification specification may include additional requirements which are determined to be necessary for the best interests of the City. These requirements may include possession of a valid motor vehicle operator's license, physical ability, or any other bona fide occupational qualifications pertinent to the positions covered.
- e) Nothing in the classification specification is to be interpreted as restricting a supervisor from assigning an employee of one classification to perform some of the duties of a higher or lower classification for a limited period of time.

A classification may be reclassified at the request of the Department Manager, employee, or City Administrator when it appears that the duties and responsibilities of an existing classification are changed. Reasons for the reclassification request are to be stated in writing and the Mayor will determine whether the present classification is correct or whether a reclassification is necessary. New or revised classification specifications will be prepared as provided in these policies and will become a part of the classification plan.

When reclassification occurs, an employee occupying the position may be retained in the position provided that the Mayor determines that the reclassification results from an official recognition of a change in duties and responsibilities which has already occurred and is a long-term inequity of classification. If the reclassification results in a higher maximum salary, such reclassification may constitute a promotion and the rules governing promotion with regard to salary apply. If the reclassification results in a lower maximum salary, such reclassification may constitute a demotion and the rules governing demotion with regard to salary apply.

#### 2.02 Recruitment, Applications, and Selection.

This policy outlines the procedures for completing a job notice, posting a job vacancy, and extending an offer of employment. Recruiting practices are conducted solely on the basis of ability, merit, qualifications and competence without regard to any individual's sex, race, color, religion, national origin, sexual orientation, pregnancy, age, marital status, military status, genetic information, disability or any other characteristic protected by law.

Available positions are publicized for a reasonable period by announcements posted on city department bulletin boards and by such other means as deemed appropriate. Announcements may specify the title, rate of pay, duties to be performed and required minimum qualifications. All current employees are encouraged to apply for available positions if they so desire. The City of Orting is an equal opportunity employer and selection for any position will be based solely on merit, efficiency and fitness for that position.

#### Job Posting

An internal job posting will be placed in appropriate locations to allow current employees, who are qualified, an opportunity to apply for a vacant position. Notices will be posted for five (5) days. If it is determined that consideration of outside applicants is in the City's best interests, staff will begin the process of outside recruitment following the five (5) day internal posting period. If the City Administrator determines that there are unlikely to be any qualified internal candidates, for instance entry-level positions, outside recruitment can happen concurrently with the internal job posting. Current City employees are encouraged to apply for job openings.

#### Application for Employment

Each applicant shall complete and sign a City of Orting application form prior to being considered for any position. Resumes may supplement, but not replace, the City of Orting official application. The City "Application for Employment" form shall continue to be in conformance with all State and Federal laws pertaining to pre-employment inquiries. All application forms must be fully completed, signed and dated by the applicant to be valid. Applications will be accepted for open positions and will be considered only for that position. All applications must be received no later than 4:30 p.m. on the published closing date for filing. A closing date may be extended by the City Administrator. Applications, whether accepted or rejected, will not be returned. All statements submitted on the employment application or attached resume shall be subject to investigation and verification prior to appointment. Falsification of employment information may be grounds for rejection of an applicant or subsequent dismissal.

#### **Confirmation Employment**

The City may require the City Council's confirmation of employment for certain positions as provided by City Ordinance.

#### 2.03 Promotions.

The City encourages promotion from within the organization whenever possible. The Mayor shall determine whether the promotional process for a position will be competitive or appointive. Before advertising a position to the general public, the City Administrator may choose to circulate a promotional opportunity within the City. Promotional opportunities may be posted on the City bulletin board. The City reserves the right to seek qualified applicants outside of the organization at the Mayor's sole discretion.

A promotion is an appointment to a position in a classification which has a higher maximum salary rate than the employee's present classification. The Mayor will determine the salary step of the promoted employee in the new salary range on the date of the promotion. The salary step of the promoted employee will be set so that the promoted employee's pay level is no more than two (2) salary steps higher than the employee's step prior to the promotion. If step one of the salary range to which the employee has been promoted is a pay level more than two (2) steps higher than the promoted employee's previous salary step, then the employee shall be assigned to step one of the higher salary range. When the date of promotion and the merit/step increase date coincide, the merit/step increase is paid prior to the promotional increase.

New Trial Period: After promotion to a new position, a new trial period of six (6) months must be completed. Successful completion of the trial period does not alter the employee's at-will employment. The Mayor may authorize or require an extension of a trial period for up to an additional six months. In the case of unsatisfactory performance, the employee may be transferred back to the previous position held by the employee, if vacant, or to another position fitting the employee's skills and qualifications, within the

limits of vacant authorized positions, or if no such vacant position is available in the Mayor's sole discretion, the employee may be terminated.

## **Temporary Promotions**

A temporary appointment may be made to any position in the City of Orting. Temporary appointments are for a limited period of time and employees are not entitled to city benefits unless authorized by the Mayor as special conditions. All conditions of a temporary appointment will be specified in the letter of appointment or contract. Seasonal employment is considered temporary appointment status. Temporary employees do not attain regular status in the classification and may be terminated at will.

# **Acting Promotions**

When the need arises to fill a position due to approved leave of absence, disciplinary actions or when a vacancy exists, a current regular status employee may be appointed "acting" to a position of higher pay grade or to a position of differing classification. Such appointments are for a limited time to fill a temporary vacancy and should not create a job expectancy. Employees will not attain regular status in the higher position from an acting appointment.

#### 2.04 Hours of Work.

Everyone benefits from clarity regarding hours of work and scheduling. The following information may be helpful:

*Work Week:* For payroll and accounting purposes, the City of Orting's work week begins at 12:01 a.m. Monday and ends at midnight on Sunday.

Work Day: The normal work day for employees other than police department commissioned personnel consists of eight hours plus an unpaid meal period. Some employees or positions may have different work days determined by the needs of the City.

**Scheduling:** Work schedules are established by management. Unless otherwise scheduled, all employees are expected to work Monday through Friday. Requests for changes in schedules or for particular days off should be made in writing in a timely fashion and approved in advance by your supervisor. Some variation in schedule may be granted by mutual agreement between you and the City, so long as the needs of the department are met.

**Rest Periods**: All non-exempt employees receive one 10-minute break for each four (4) hours of working time. The break should occur near the mid-point of each four (4) hour work period, but scheduling will be done by your supervisor. Break periods are paid and may be used to extend a lunch period or to leave early provided that the total amount of time taken does not exceed the break and lunch periods and approved by your Department Manager.

*Meal Periods:* If you are non-exempt and you work more than five (5) hours in a day, you will have a meal break after two (2) to five (5) hours into your shift. The minimal meal break is a thirty (30) minute unpaid period. The exact time and duration of your meal break will be scheduled by your supervisor to ensure appropriate coverage.

**Rest/Meal Periods for Police Department Employees:** While at lunch or on a rest/relief period, all Police Department commissioned personnel will be subject to call.

**Breaks for Nursing Mothers:** Non-exempt employees who are nursing mothers are entitled to unpaid breaks during the workday for the purpose of expressing breast milk. Absent undue hardship, this entitlement shall continue for one year following childbirth. The City will provide a clean, suitable, and private location for these breaks.

**Overtime**: Overtime is time worked in excess of eight (8) hours of work in a work day. Holidays, Vacation and Sick leave are not considered time worked. The regular work week is forty (40) working hours for most employees, but on certain occasions, some overtime may be required. Any overtime work must be authorized by a supervisor in advance.

#### 2.05 Attendance.

You are a member of a team and each member has an important contribution to make. Timely performance of your job is essential to maintaining the high quality service our City government provides. It also shows your respect for your fellow employees who must assume your duties in your absence. You must report to work regularly and on time, in proper attire, with proper equipment, and ready to work at the starting time. If you will be unable to report for work, will be late, or need to leave early, notify the City Administrator, City Personnel Director, and/or your supervisor as far in advance as possible. Failure to notify the City in a timely and appropriate manner may result in discipline. You may be requested to present a physician's statement verifying the need for sick leave after being absent for more than three (3) days.

An employee who is absent without notification for three (3) consecutive days or shifts will be considered to have abandoned his/her position and may be terminated, subject to the provisions of the Washington Paid Sick Leave Act.

# **2.06** Personnel Records & Files.

Generally speaking, without specific written authorization from the employee, only the following will be released to anyone outside the employ of the City: job title, department, hire date, separation date and base salary. Generally, only the employee, the City Clerk, the City Treasurer/City Personnel Director and the City Administrator will have access to your personnel file internally.

Personnel records will show the employee's name, title of position held, the department assigned, salary, change in appointment status, training received (with the exception of Police in-service training maintained in Departmental files), performance evaluations, fringe benefits administration, including vacation and sick leave rates of accumulation and use, notes regarding disciplinary action or other counseling sessions, and such other information as may be considered pertinent.

When you move, change your telephone number or experience other changes in your personal information, please make sure you inform the City Clerk's Office and/or the City Treasurer's Office of such changes. In this way, your personnel records will remain accurate and up-to-date.

You may review your personnel records at any mutually convenient time during normal business hours. Should you wish to do so, please make an appointment with the City Treasurer. The City Clerk or City Treasurer will be present during any such review. While a City employee, you may include a personal memorandum in your file if you feel it is necessary to clarify or rebut file information.

Personnel records that are not confidential will be maintained and destroyed in accordance with established policy regarding retention of public records.

#### 2.07 Performance Reviews.

Regular performance reviews conducted at appropriate intervals benefit you and the City by providing a written record of your performance and giving you the opportunity to discuss with your supervisor how well you are meeting the City's expectations, to clarify your job responsibilities, to set mutually agreed-upon goals and to explore your possibilities for advancement within the City of Orting.

Performance reviews are generally conducted annually and are part of your personnel records. You will be given an opportunity for written comment on your performance review. You will be asked to sign your performance review to document that you have read it and that you have had an opportunity to comment. Your signature does not imply agreement or disagreement with the evaluation. You will receive a copy of your review for your own records. Because your performance on the job affects your compensation and employment, your performance review deserves your active and constructive participation. Seasonal and temporary employees do not receive formal performance reviews, however, they are to be coached about work expectations and performance.

#### New Employees and New Positions

New employees and employees assigned to a new position will be evaluated by their supervisors during appropriate intervals. Successful completion of the six-month evaluation period does not modify the employee's at will employment.

If an employee's performance is not satisfactory during the probationary period, the supervisor may recommend termination of employment at any time during the probation or, in special circumstances, request that the Mayor to extend the probationary period up to an established period of time, specified in writing to the employee. In the event the employee's performance is still unsatisfactory, the employee may be terminated at any time within the extended probationary period.

#### Managerial Procedures

All employees who are promoted to a higher classified position or who assume the duties of a higher classified position will be evaluated by their supervisors during appropriate intervals.

The anniversary date will change to reflect the first date worked in the new position. Successful completion of an evaluation period does not modify the employee's at will employment.

#### 2.08 Supervisor's Approach to Performance Reviews.

The performance review is a critical management tool for the City of Orting. It is an opportunity for managers to recognize employees' contributions to the City, to identify areas for growth and/or improvement, and to set forth goals and action plans for the coming year. The performance review is vital to City employees as well. The score the employee receives determines his/her compensation, and how the performance review conference is conducted affects the tone of the employee-supervisor relationship. Supervisors are expected to review employees' performance with care, consideration, and candor.

#### 2.09 Inadequate Job Performance – Corrective Action Plan.

Poor performance is a serious issue for the City and the employee. Any supervisor who concludes that an employee's performance is unacceptable in one or more categories should consult with the City Personnel Director to determine whether the City should proceed with disciplinary action or implement a Corrective

Action Plan (CAP).

If the employee's performance does not sufficiently improve under the CAP or if the employee continues to violate one or more City policies, the employee shall be subject to additional discipline up to and including termination.

A CAP is discretionary and an employee is not entitled to a CAP if employment issues arise.

#### **2.10** Reduction-In-Force.

Fluctuating revenue and budget conditions may from time to time force the city to reduce personnel in one or more departments or programs. This reduction may be accomplished by either of the following methods:

- Lateral Transfer. This is a method of employee transfer from one classification to another classification with the same pay grade or within the same classification or pay grade from one department to another. When done for budgeting purposes, such transfer would normally be for the duration of the financial problem only. A lateral transfer must be approved by the Mayor.
- Layoff. A layoff is a method of permanent termination of the employee due to financial circumstances or a change in the need for which the position or positions was created. A layoff must be approved by the Mayor. No regular employee shall be laid off while another person in the same classification is employed on a probationary, temporary, acting or part-time basis. In determining which employees in any classification are to be laid off, consideration is to be given to individual performance and then to seniority in the positions to be affected.

#### 2.11 Resignation.

An employee wishing to leave City service in good standing will file with the City Personnel Director and/or City Administrator a written resignation, including a statement of the reasons for resigning and the effective date of resignation. The written resignation notice must be completed at least two (2) weeks prior to the effective date of resignation.

The City Administrator and Department Managers shall be required to give at least four (4) weeks' notice to the Mayor.

A copy of the resignation notice shall be placed in the personnel file of the employee.

# **2.12** Identification of Employees.

It is the policy of the City that when on duty, all employees be visible and identifiable to the public to the maximum extent compatible with assigned work duties. All City furnished uniforms or work clothing are to be maintained in a presentable manner by the employee.

City-furnished uniforms remain the property of the City at all times and must be returned immediately upon separation from employment. Uniforms will be worn only on duty or during additional approved volunteer activities that are identical to those performed while on duty. Wearing of uniform items while commuting between a home and the work location may be permitted providing that the wearer does not participate in any interim activity where the image and good name of the city might be negatively affected.

The outer garment of each uniform furnished by the City will bear the official insignia of the city and other such markings or emblems as each Department Manager may specify, except that rain gear may be identified otherwise.

All employees who come in direct contact with the public outside the City-owned buildings may be required to carry an identification card issued by the City. The card will contain the name, title, department, address and telephone number of work location; and a head and shoulders photograph and certification that said person is an employee of the City of Orting.

All City-issued identification, uniforms and other City-owned materials or property in the employee's possession must be surrendered to the City immediately upon employment separation and no later than twenty-four hours after the employee's last day of employment with the City.

#### 3. COMPENSATION

#### 3.01 Your Paycheck.

Pay periods are from the first through the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) day of the month, and the sixteenth (16<sup>th</sup>) day through the last day of the month. You will receive your paycheck by the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) day following each pay period. You shall sign up for automatic deposit of your paycheck by contacting the City Treasurer.

All employees must complete an individual time record showing daily hours worked in order to be paid properly. In the case of exempt employees, this timesheet will account for daily attendance.

Deductions from your paycheck are those required by law (e.g., Medicare, workers' compensation premiums, court-ordered garnishments) and those approved by you in writing (e.g., Union dues as applicable, insurance premiums, etc.).

#### 3.02 Complaints or Concerns.

If you believe there are any errors in your pay, including that you have been overpaid or underpaid, that improper deductions have been taken from your pay or that your pay does not accurately reflect all hours worked, including overtime, report your concerns to the City Treasurer immediately. The City will promptly investigate all reported complaints and, if appropriate, take corrective action.

The City prohibits and will not tolerate retaliation against any employee because that employee filed a good faith complaint under this policy. Specifically, no one will be disciplined, intimidated or otherwise retaliated against because that person exercised rights under this policy or applicable law.

#### 3.03 Employee Salary and Wage Plan.

The City of Orting strives to pay its employees' salaries and wages that are internally equitable and comparable to the pay scales of similar cities. While the City cannot pay City employees the same wages as larger cities, the City does consider the pay scales of other comparable cities for those job positions that are comparable to jobs at the City of Orting. The City maintains an Employee Salary and Wage Plan. The Mayor is responsible for recommendation to the City Council of adoption of a Salary Plan for the City of Orting. The Plan will include salaries for non-bargaining unit personnel as well as salary grades negotiated by employee representatives. Changes to employee salaries and wages are approved by the City Council as part of the budget process.

When you begin your employment with the City, you will be paid a wage or salary consistent with the Employee Salary and Wage Plan and appropriate to the experience, educational background, training, and skills you bring to your position. Thereafter, you will only receive salary and wage adjustments based upon your job performance and the discretion of the City Administrator and/or City Personnel Director. Depending upon the quality of your performance, you may receive an upward adjustment. All performance salary and wage increases shall remain within the range for that position as approved by the City Council. Your eligibility for a pay increase may occur at the end of your first six (6) months of City employment.

#### Qualified Payroll Period

When an employee has been in pay status fifteen or more calendar days, including holidays in any given calendar month, the payroll period will be considered qualified to accrue benefits, serve out probation, and for computation of merit increase dates. A new employee may be credited with the first payroll period if

employed prior to the 16th of the month.

# Payment of Salaries

All employees are paid at an hourly or monthly rate, as specified in the City's annual budget document. Hourly employees are paid on the basis of actual number of hours worked, including authorized absences with pay and allowed holidays. Salary rates for temporary or part-time employees will be based on the pay for full-time positions in the same classification.

#### **Beginning Salary**

Each employee will be appointed at the first step of the range established for the classification, with the exception of management classification, which shall be negotiated within the assigned range. If it is determined that appointment of non-management employees above the first step may be warranted, the following procedures will apply:

- a) The factors to be reviewed in approving appointment beyond the first step are: availability of applicants meeting the qualifications for the vacant position, relationship to other similar classifications, prior experience of a candidate in a comparable position, time available to continue the recruitment process, and budget considerations.
- b) The Department Manager will submit a request for appointment at a higher step to the Mayor, stating justification for the request. The Mayor will make a decision based upon the Department Manager's justification.

#### Merit/Step Increases - Regular Status Employees

- a) When a regular status employee has performed satisfactorily, as determined through the Performance Evaluation process, a merit/step increase may be granted at the completion of six (6) qualified payroll periods from the employee's anniversary date, but not before the satisfactory completion of the employee's initial six-month probationary period. In the case of an employee placed at the time of hire above Step One of the pay range, the initial in-class merit/step raise will be considered upon the completion of twelve months in class and at twelve (12) month intervals thereafter until the employee reaches the top step of the range.
- b) The annual merit/step increase date for an employee will change only if: 1) the employee is promoted or otherwise moved to a position assigned to another job class and is required to serve a trial performance period; and 2) the employee receives a merit/step adjustment as authorized by the Mayor.

#### Promotion

A promotion is an appointment to a position in a classification which has a higher maximum salary rate than the employee's present classification. The Mayor will determine the salary step of the promoted employee in the new salary range on the date of the promotion. The salary step of the promoted employee will be set so that the promoted employee's pay level is no more than two (2) salary steps higher than the employee's step prior to the promotion. If step one of the salary range to which the employee has been promoted is a pay level more than two (2) steps higher than the promoted employee's previous salary step,

then the employee shall be assigned to step one of the higher salary range. When the date of promotion and the merit/step increase date coincide, the merit/step increase is paid prior to the promotional increase.

#### **Demotions**

A demotion is an appointment to a position in a classification which has a lower maximum salary rate than the employee's present classification. When a demotion occurs, the Department Manager will recommend to the Mayor and/or City Administrator a salary for the demoted employee within the salary range of the lower classification which is less than or equal to the employee's present salary. The employee will retain the same anniversary date.

#### Transfer

- a) A position transfer is an appointment to a position in the same or different classification of the same pay grade.
- b) When an employee is transferred to a position in a different classification with the same pay grade, or is transferred to another department with the same classification, the employee's pay remains the same. The employee will retain the same anniversary date for leave and length of service purposes.

## Temporary Change of Classification

- a) A current employee assigned to a classification with a differing rate of pay in an "acting" appointment status will be compensated at the next higher step in the new range according to the policy on promotion.
- b) If the employee is promoted to the higher class with regular appointment status, all policies apply from the date of promotion.

#### **Exemptions**

The Mayor may recommend positions to be exempt from overtime provisions to the City Council on the basis of the nature of work, conditions of employment or by definition of administrative, supervisory and professional classifications as provided by State and Federal laws. Such exemption is based upon special conditions to work or assignment, in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act.

#### 3.04 Overtime and Compensatory Time Off.

At the City of Orting, we want our employees to work a reasonable number of hours. The regular work week is no more than forty (40) working hours in a week, except in the case of non-standard work schedules. On certain occasions some overtime may be required. You may request not to work overtime, but you may not refuse to work assigned overtime. Any overtime work must be authorized in advance by your supervisor or the City Administrator. If overtime is authorized or required, regular, full-time, nonexempt employees will be paid at one and one-half times the regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in a work day. Holiday, Vacation and Sick leave time are not considered hours worked. If overtime is authorized or required for temporary or part-time employees, they will be paid at one and one-half times the regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in one work day. Public safety employees (police) may be subject to alternative work periods and overtime standards, as set forth in an

applicable labor agreement.

Nonexempt employees who work overtime have the option to choose compensatory time off that will be accrued at one and a half hours for every hour worked in lieu of overtime pay. You may accrue up to forty (40) hours of compensatory time off. Employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement may have different accrual limits. Compensatory time can be used at times mutually agreed to by you and your supervisor. Any compensatory time not used may be carried over to the next year (up to 40 hours). Upon separation of employment any compensatory time will be paid at your current rate of pay.

#### 4. EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT: TRAVEL, MEALS, AND LODGING

#### 4.01 Purpose and Administration.

The purpose of this travel policy is to identify and provide guidelines regarding the City's travel policies and to further delineate those valid business expenses for which an employee may qualify for payment or reimbursement.

# 4.02 City Employees and City Officials.

#### Meals

All City employees and officials claiming reimbursement for meals consumed while on City business shall be entitled to reimbursement based on the following per diem schedule listed in the most Current Per Diem Travel Map produced by OFM at: <a href="http://www.ofm.wa.gov/resources/travel.asp">http://www.ofm.wa.gov/resources/travel.asp</a>.

Reimbursement for gratuity is not authorized.

Mileage reimbursement for use of a personal vehicle shall following the most recent IRS schedule for standard mileage rates for business and medical and moving expenses.

Meals for which the costs are included in a City-paid registration fee cannot be claimed by an employee for reimbursement. All claims for meal reimbursements for conferences shall include a copy of the conference schedule for determining meals provided by such conferences.

#### <u>Travel</u>

No personal automobile use is permitted by City employees without prior express written consent by the City Administrator or his/her designee. City-owned vehicles should not be used for business travel when the destination is less than a half a mile away from the employee's normal area of work.

Reimbursement for reasonable costs of business travel is authorized. If available, the use of a City vehicle is **required**. If a personal car is used, the employee must maintain proper insurance and agree that his/her insurance will serve as primary insurance. All travel costs are subject to approval by the City Administrator and/or the Mayor. General guidelines are as follows:

#### City Vehicle

Out-of-area costs of vehicle operations are authorized for fuel, oil, tires, and necessary repairs.

# Vehicle

Expenses shall be reimbursed for travel within a three hundred (300) mile radius of the City at such rate per mile as established by the United States Internal Revenue Service for deductions. Trips beyond this limit will be reimbursed at the lower of (a) the established rate per mile, or (b) the lowest available (other than nonrefundable) airfare obtainable by the City, plus mileage reimbursement at the then-current City rate, based upon the estimated distance between the airport and the destination.

## Rental Vehicle

The cost of vehicle rental when out of town on business is an exception to this policy and must be submitted

in writing to the Department Manager and approved by the City Administrator, prior to travel.

## Air Travel

Whenever feasible, air travel arrangements should be purchased at least five (5) weeks in advance of departure date. The authorized procurer will arrange for air travel based on the lowest available airfare. A travel agency may be used. If personal travel is combined with business travel, the traveling employee is responsible for paying the increase in airfare if necessary to accommodate the personal part of the flight.

# Miscellaneous Travel Expenses

Miscellaneous travel costs such as bus, taxi, bridge or other tolls, parking, ferry and the like are authorized. Whenever possible an original, itemized vendor's receipt will be required. If a receipt is not available log the time, date, facility or company, expense and reason a receipt could not be provided on the *Affidavit of Lost Receipt*, available from the Accounts Payable Department.

### Out of State or Overnight Travel

To be eligible for any City reimbursement for overnight travel expense, the one-way travel distance must be greater than fifty (50) miles from the City or home. Approval for all overnight or out of state travel must be in writing by the Department Manager or City Administrator.

#### Accommodations

Reasonable hotel/motel accommodations for employees and officials are acceptable and will be reimbursed for the single room rate. Exceptions may be requested in writing to the Department Manager and approved by the City Administrator should a single room rate not be available. An original, itemized vendor's receipt is required for all claims.

#### Non-Allowable Expenses Include But Are Not Limited To:

Liquor, expenses of a spouse or other persons not authorized to receive reimbursement, beauty parlor or barber services, personal entertainment (movie rentals, etc.), theft, loss, or damage to personal property, damage costs caused by employee/officer actions, airline or other trip insurance, personal postage, reading materials, non-business related telephone calls, laundry/dry cleaning, and personal toiletry articles.

#### Non-Travel Food and Beverage Reimbursement Policy

Reasonable expenses for refreshments including food and beverage that are associated with meetings, ceremonies or dedications whether attended solely by city employees or the public or some combination are considered legitimate City expenditures.

#### 4.03 Advance Travel Funds.

The use of advance travel funds is authorized by the City. These are the guidelines for requests:

- Advance travel funds may be used for expenses incurred during the authorized overnight travel of a City employee or officer/elected official while on City business.
- Requests for advance travel funds shall be submitted to the City Treasurer on forms established by the City Treasurer. Requests will be based on "per diem" rates for meals and a reasonable

estimates for those costs not directly billable to the City.

- The Advance Travel Request form will be submitted at least five (5) working days prior to departure, together with a copy of the agenda or conference/workshop application as verification of the purpose of the trip. Requests must be signed by the applicant and the individual's Department Manager. Meal allowances will not be paid for meals that are included in the registration fee, whether or not the employee partakes of the meal. A continental breakfast is not considered a meal, and therefore if a registration includes a continental breakfast, the City will reimburse the employee for the cost of a regular breakfast, if claimed. Advances will be based on "maximum per diem allowances" for the locality to which the individual is traveling.
- Air transportation and hotel/motel accommodations will be billed directly to the City by the Vendor.
- Settlements of the Advanced Travel will be made on or before the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) day following the close of the travel period by submitting to the City Treasurer a Travel and Personal Reimbursement Settlement Form. Any default in accounting for, or in repaying a travel advance shall render the "full unpaid" amount immediately due and payable with interest added at the rate of ten percent (10%) per annum, from the date of default until the advance is repaid. The City shall have the right to withhold any and all funds payable to such officer or employee to whom such advance has been made.
- No advance of any amount may be made to any officer or employee at any time when he/she is delinquent in accounting for or in repaying a prior cash advance.

# 4.04 Claims and Approval Process.

Travel and subsistence expenses will not be paid from Petty Cash

- Special approvals required by this policy shall be obtained by employees in advance. Such approvals shall be in advance of the event and by separate memo and the reasons for the exception.
- All claims by City Council members shall be approved by the Mayor.
- Claims that are rejected shall be reviewed by the Mayor for final disposition.

#### 4.05 Use of City Charge Cards.

In its discretion, the City may issue charge cards to employees, elected officials, or appointed officials to cover authorized travel expenses and other purchases or acquisitions. The charge card users must submit fully itemized expense vouchers using the City of Orting Credit Card Expense Voucher form. Any charge not properly identified or not allowed following an audit must be repaid by the official or employee. If the amount owed is not repaid, the municipality may withhold all funds that would be payable to the officer or employee who used the charge card up to the amount of the disallowed charges. The card may not be used by any official or employee who has such charges outstanding, and it shall be surrendered upon demand of the City Clerk or City Treasurer.

The City's charge card may only be used for travel, training, local business meetings, meals, or authorized City purchases and acquisitions. All State and City purchasing requirements must be followed when using

credit cards for purchases and acquisitions. Personal expenses (i.e., telephone calls, purchases of items to be kept by the employee, etc.) are not allowed to be purchased on a City charge card, and cash advances are prohibited. Employees and elected or appointed officials using City credit cards are responsible for promptly reporting lost or stolen credit cards to the credit card company and to the City Clerk or City Treasurer.

Please return the City's charge card to the City Clerk's office within two (2) business days after you return from conducting City business. Within ten days of the return of the charge card to the City Clerk's office, the official or employee of the City who used the card must submit a fully itemized "Credit Card Expense Voucher." All employee expenditures require approval by the appropriate Department Manager (or his/her designee) or by the City Administrator.

If a receipt is not available log the time, date, facility or company, expense and reason a receipt could not be provided, on the *Affidavit of Lost Receipt*, available from the Accounts Payable Department.

#### 5. TIME OFF AND BENEFITS

#### 5.01 Legal Holidays.

All regular status employees are entitled to an eight (8) hour paid holiday on the following days, observed in accordance with the official state calendar:

New Year's Day Martin Luther King Day President's Day Memorial Day Fourth of July Labor Day Veteran's Day
Thanksgiving Day
Day after Thanksgiving Day
Day before Christmas
Christmas Day

For employees on a Monday through Friday work schedule, holidays will be observed in the following manner:

- a) When a holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday will be considered the holiday.
- b) When a holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday will be considered the holiday.

Any employee on vacation or sick leave during a holiday will not be charged vacation or sick leave for that day.

An employee who would otherwise be entitled to a holiday but is on leave without pay will receive compensation for the holiday, provided the employee has satisfied all of the qualifying payroll period provisions.

An employee on the payroll for less than a full month is eligible for a paid holiday provided the employee is in pay status a minimum of one working day immediately preceding and immediately following the holiday.

#### Floating Holiday

In addition to the above-listed holidays, two (2) eight (8) hour "floating" holidays, for all regular status employees who have completed at least six months of employment with the city, may be taken at the request of the employee and with the advance written approval of the Department Manager each calendar year.

The floating holidays must be taken during the calendar year or entitlement to the day will lapse, except when an employee has requested a personal holiday and the request has been denied, by the Department Manager, due to workload or scheduling.

#### **5.02** Insurance Benefits.

The City endeavors to provide competitive benefits to its employees and their dependents. Information regarding current benefits as well as coverage and eligibility, is available from the City Personnel Director. The City of Orting will offer to regular-status employees, their spouse (defined as the wife or husband of an employee, not legally separated from the employee), and eligible dependents (defined as son, daughter, or stepchild), working at least forty (40) hours per week, insurance plans for medical, Long-Term Disability, Employee Assistance Plan (EAP), vision, and dental benefits, to be used at the option of the employee,

subject to the carrier's underwriting rules. For those employees not subject to a collective bargaining agreement, the City will contribute to the costs of such plans at least an equal amount to that of the Collective Bargaining Agreement for the Public Works and Office Workers. If insurance plan costs exceed the City benefit contribution, the remainder of costs incurred is the responsibility of the employee. All insurance premiums will be subject to applicable payroll taxes as required by the Internal Revenue Service.

Employees may waive the medical insurance benefit for themselves or dependents that are already covered under other medical insurance. Employees must provide proof of medical insurance coverage for themselves or their dependents. If waived, the City will increase the employee's compensation by fifty percent (50%) of the City's expense for the employee and/or dependent's premium. All applications for the waiver must be in writing and submitted to the City Treasurer. If the City's insurance broker requires a minimum participation, then waivers will be granted on a first come, first served basis.

#### 5.03 Sick Leave.

Reserve Police Officers will accrue one hour of paid sick leave for every forty (40) hours worked, including overtime (hour for hour). All other employees will accrue eight (8) hours of paid sick leave per month or as specified in an applicable collective bargaining agreement.

Employees are not entitled to accrue paid sick leave for hours paid while not working (such as vacation, paid holidays, or while using paid sick leave). Employees are eligible to use accrued paid sick leave ninety (90) days after starting employment. The accrual year is January 1 - December 31.

#### Rate of Pay

Employees shall receive their hourly rate of pay in effect during the time employees use paid sick leave.

Non-represented employees who separate from City service due to retirement or death shall be compensated for their total unused sick leave accumulation at the rate of twenty five (25%) percent. Employees who are choosing to retire and wish to receive a sick leave payment, must provide a resignation letter and appropriate documentation of their decision to retire to the City's Personnel Director. Employees who are terminated or fired shall not be eligible for compensation for unused sick leave.

Compensation shall be based upon the employee's rate of pay at the time of separation and shall be subject to applicable withholdings under state and federal law.

#### Carryover

Non-represented employees may carry over up to 960 hours of sick leave from one year to the next year as the accruals begin again every January 1<sup>st</sup>.

Reserve police officers may carry over up to 100 hours from one year to the next year.

#### Authorized Use

Employees may use their accrued, unused paid sick leave hours to care for themselves or a family member for:

- o Mental or physical illnesses, injuries, or health conditions;
- Seeking medical diagnosis, care, or treatment of mental or physical illnesses, injuries, or health conditions; or
- o Preventive medical care.

Sick leave is also authorized for health-related work site closures and for employee's child's school/daycare health-related closures. An employee may also use authorized sick leave if the employee or employee's family member is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking including seeking legal or law enforcement assistance under the Domestic Violence Leave Act.

#### Family member is defined as:

- Child regardless of age or dependence
  - o Includes: biological, adopted, foster, step, or a child to whom the employee stands in loco parentis, is a legal guardian, or is a de facto parent
- Parent, including spouse's parent(s)
  - o Includes: biological, adoptive, de facto, foster, stepparent, or legal guardian of an employee or the employee's spouse or registered domestic partner, or a person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a minor child
- Spouse & registered domestic partner
- Grandparent
- Grandchild
- Sibling

Incremental use of sick leave is allowed for all of the aforementioned reasons and may be taken in one hour or less increments.

#### Notification of Use of Leave

The City of Orting requires reasonable notice of anticipated absences. If the requested leave is foreseeable, the expectation is that an employee will provide ten (10) days advance notice to the employee's supervisor or provide as much advance notice as practicable. If the need for use of leave is unforeseeable, employees must provide notice as soon as possible to their supervisor prior to the start of their shift unless it is not practicable to do so. In the event it is impracticable for the employee to provide notice to their supervisor prior to the start of their shift, a person on the employee's behalf may provide notice to the employee's supervisor.

#### Verification

Absences extending longer than three (3) consecutive work days may require a doctor's note and are required within at least ten (10) calendar days following the first day of leave. There is no required verification if the leave is protected under the Domestic Violence Leave Act.

Employers may not require that the verification information provided explain the nature of the condition warranting sick leave. However, sick leave used for a purpose authorized under federal, state, or local law (e.g., FMLA, worker's compensation) permits an employer to request verification that complies with certification requirements.

If an employee believes that verification will result in an unreasonable burden or expense, he or she must provide a verbal or written statement that (i) the leave was for an authorized purpose and (ii) the verification requirement would cause an unreasonable burden or expense.

#### Retaliation

Any discrimination or retaliation against an employee for lawful exercise of paid sick leave rights is prohibited. Employees will not be disciplined for the lawful use of paid sick leave. If an employee believes

he are she is being discriminated or retaliated against, promptly contact Scott Larson at: slarson@cityoforting.org.

If the employee is not satisfied with the response, the employee may contact the Washington State

Department of Labor & Industries online at: <a href="www.Lni.wa.gov/WorkplaceRights">www.Lni.wa.gov/WorkplaceRights</a>

Call: 1-866-219-7321, toll-free Email: <a href="mailto:ESgeneral@Lni.wa.gov">ESgeneral@Lni.wa.gov</a>

#### Separation & Reinstatement

In the event an employee separates from the City of Orting, there will not be financial reimbursement to the employee for accrued, unused paid sick leave balances available at the time of separation. If the employee separates and is rehired within twelve (12) months, the ninety (90) day waiting period prior to use of paid sick leave is not imposed, and the City will reinstate the employees accrued, unused paid sick leave up to forty (40) hours.

## **5.04** Vacation Time.

Length of Service		Monthly Accrual	
0 to 12 months	(1 year)	6.67 hours	
13 months through 48 months	(2-4 years)	8.00 hours	
49 months through 84 months	(5-7 years)	10.00 hours	
85 months through 120 months	(8-10 years)	12.00 hours	
121 months through 156 months	(11-13 years)	12.67 hours	
157 months through 192 months	(14-16 years)	13.33 hours	
193 months through 228 months	(17-19 years)	14.00 hours	
229 months through 288 months	(20-24 years)	14.67 hours	
289 months +	(25 years +)	16.67 hours	

Vacation time is accrued from the day you start working for the City, and it may be used after successful completion of your first six (6) months of actual service to the City. Vacation must be scheduled with the advance approval from your Department Manager or from the City Administrator to limit interference with the operations of the City. Requests for vacation are to be submitted at least two (2) weeks in advance unless waived by the Department Manager. Vacation time may be taken in one-half hour increments.

Vacation accrues according to the above schedule for regular Full Time Employees and will be prorated for Regular Part Time Employees. Temporary employee shall NOT be entitled to vacation time.

The Mayor may authorize the City Administrator to credit employees with a lump sum of vacation accrual for purposes of recruitment or retention. The amount of the lump sum will be at the sole discretion of the Mayor.

All vacations must be approved by the appropriate Department Manager. Department Manager vacations are approved by the City Administrator. City Administrator vacations are approved by the Mayor.

Vacation time may be accrued only to a maximum of 240 hours (30 days), except under unusual circumstances and with approval of the Department Manager and the City Administrator. Unapproved accrual beyond the 240 hours limit will be forfeited by the employee. Non-represented employees may be

credited with up to 120 excess vacation hours beyond the 240 maximum accrual limit. While not accrued for payout upon separation from employment, these excess vacation hours will be held on account for use by the employee subject to the provisions of this section governing use of vacation leave.

Upon separation from City employment, any regular status employee with more than the equivalent of six (6) months of service shall be paid for up to a maximum of 240 hours of accrued vacation. Compensation shall be based upon the employee's salary at the time of separation and shall be subject to applicable withholding under state and federal law.

Any holiday occurring during an approved vacation is not counted as a day of vacation taken.

#### Vacation Leave Sharing

- 1) Employees who are suffering from an illness, injury, impairment or physical or mental condition, which is of an extraordinary or severe nature and which has caused, or is likely to cause the employee to either be in a leave without pay status or to terminate employment with the city, may, subject to the provisions of this section or, for represented employees, subject to collective bargaining agreements addressing this issue, be permitted to receive donations of vacation leave from other employees.
- 2) Requests for Vacation Leave Donations: Employees who wish to receive donations of vacation leave must submit a request to the City Administrator. The request must include an explanation of the circumstances that make the donations necessary and must be supported by the opinion of a qualified medical professional.
- 3) Determination of Eligibility for Vacation Leave Donations: The City Administrator may authorize vacation leave donations if the employee has depleted or is about to deplete his/her annual leave and sick leave accruals.
- 4) Amount of Vacation Leave to be Donated: The total amount of vacation leave that can be donated to an employee will be determined by the City Administrator.
- 5) Eligibility for Donations: Any employee with more than eighty (80) hours of vacation leave accrued may authorize a donation of vacation leave to another employee who has been authorized by the City Administrator to receive vacation leave donations. In no event will an employee be allowed to donate more than twenty five percent (25%) of his/her accrued vacation leave.

#### 6) Procedures:

- a) While an employee is on leave donated under this section, he or she shall continue to be classified as a City employee and shall receive the same treatment in terms of salary, wages, and employee benefits as the employee would normally receive if using accrued annual leave.
- b) Donated leave will be used on a 1<sup>st</sup> donated, 1<sup>st</sup> used process.
- c) If any leave donated under this section is not used, it will be returned to the donating employee(s) provided that there is no reasonable expectation that the leave will be needed in the near future in connection with the illness or condition for the which the donation was permitted.

#### 5.05 Bereavement Leave.

The City affords regular full-time and regular part-time employees time off with pay in the event of a death in the employee's immediate family. The employee's immediate family is defined as the employee's spouse, domestic partner, parents, step-parents, children, step-children, grandchildren, great-grandchildren,

brothers, sisters, step-brothers, step-sisters, son in-law, daughter in-law and grandparents. The term also includes a spouse's parents, step-parents, brothers and sisters. Unusual circumstances shall receive individual consideration. In the event of a death in an eligible employee's immediate family, the employee may receive up to three (3) days of Bereavement Leave with pay.

Employees on Bereavement Leave shall continue to accrue Sick Leave and Vacation benefits. Bereavement Leave is not cumulative nor payable upon termination of employment. The period of Bereavement Leave may be extended by the use of accrued Vacation time, or if warranted, Sick leave for a maximum five (5) additional days.

#### 5.06 Jury Duty Leave.

Serving on a jury is a fundamental responsibility of citizenship, and the City supports this important role in our society. However, to ensure that we can provide proper service to the public, if you receive a notice for jury duty service, please contact your Department Manager or City Administrator as soon as possible so that appropriate scheduling needs can be met. If your absence would pose a significant hardship for the City, you may be asked to request a postponement of jury duty from the court. Jury duty leave is paid at your regular rate for the time you are required to serve up to eighty (80) hours, less juror's fee received (excluding juror expense payments). You are expected to report to work on any day that you are released from service with four (4) or more hours left in your regular shift.

# 5.07 Military Leave.

We recognize the importance of enabling employees to serve in the military. An Employee who is a member of the Washington National Guard or of the Army, Navy, Air Force, Coast Guard, or Marine Corps reserve of the United States are entitled to a paid military leave of absence for a period not to exceed twenty one (21) working days during each year beginning October 1 and ending the following September 30. Military leave shall be charged only for days that he or she is scheduled to work for the City. Military leave may be used for required military duty, training, or drills including those in the National Guard under Title 10 U.S.C., Title 32 U.S.C., or state active status. During the period of military leave, the officer or employee shall receive his/her normal pay. Military leave in excess of the Twenty one (21) days of paid time off will be unpaid, unless the employee elects to use accrued leave. All benefits continue to accrue during military leave of less than thirty (30) days.

An employee who enters the state or federal armed services for an extended tour of duty is eligible for an extended, unpaid military leave of absence, which may continue up to five (5) years, unless otherwise provided under federal law. Employees may use all accrued but unused vacation benefits as soon as their extended military leave begins. All insurance benefits will end on the last day of the month in which the extended military leave begins but the employee may extend medical coverage under COBRA if desired. Employees who leave work to serve in military duty are entitled to reemployment and benefit resumption consistent with relevant state and federal laws.

Employees should notify their Department Manager as soon as they receive notice of the need to report for military duty or training, and should provide the Department Manager with a copy of military orders.

#### 5.08 Leave for Spouses/Domestic Partners of Military Personnel.

The Washington State Military Family Leave Act (MFLA) allows an employee whose spouse is a member of the United States armed forces, National Guard or reserves to take fifteen (15) days of leave when the

spouse is notified of an impending call to active duty or when the spouse is on leave from an active duty deployment.

The purpose of MFLA leave is for families of military personnel serving in military conflicts to spend time together. This leave may be used prior to deployment or during the spouse's leave from deployment, but may not be used at the end of the deployment. An employee must work for an average of twenty (20) or more hours per week to qualify for MFLA.

An employee who seeks to take family military leave should provide the City with notice of his/her intent to take leave within five (5) business days of receiving official notice that the employee's spouse/domestic partner will be on leave or of an impending call to active duty. An employee may elect to use the employee's accrued paid leave in connection with such leave.

#### 5.09 Pregnancy/Childbirth Disability Leave.

An employee will be granted leave for the period of time that she is temporarily disabled because of pregnancy or childbirth. Medical certification may be required to confirm the need for leave. Pregnancy/Childbirth Disability leave is unpaid, provided that an employee must use her accrued paid leaves before the unpaid portion of the leave begins.

# 5.10 Leave Due To Domestic Violence or Sexual Assault.

This leave is available to an employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. It is also available to employees with a family member (child, spouse, registered domestic partner, parent, parent-in-law, grandparent, or person with whom the employee has a dating relationship) who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. A reasonable amount of leave may be taken, and is available in blocks, intermittently, or on a reduced leave schedule. Domestic violence/sexual assault leave is unpaid, although an employee may elect to use the employee's accrued paid leave in connection with such leave.

Domestic Violence/Sexual Assault Leave may be taken for the following purposes:

- To seek law enforcement or legal assistance or to prepare for or participate in any legal proceeding related to domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking;
- To seek treatment for physical or mental injuries from domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, or attend to such health care treatment for a family member;
- To obtain (or assist a family member in obtaining) services from a domestic violence shelter, rape crisis center, or other social services;
- To obtain (or assist a family member in obtaining) mental health counseling related to domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking; or
- To participate in safety planning, to temporarily or permanently relocate, or to take other actions to increase the safety of the employee or family member relating to domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.

When possible, employees should give advance notice of the intention to take leave. If advance notice is

not possible, employees (or their designee) should give notice of the need for this leave no later than the end of the first day the employee takes the leave. The City may require verification to support the need for the leave. Except where disclosure is authorized or required by law, the City will maintain confidentiality of all information provided by the employee in conjunction with Domestic Violence/Sexual Assault Leave.

#### 5.11 Disability Leave.

An unpaid medical leave of absence may be granted to employees who are unable to perform the essential functions of their position due to a disability as a reasonable accommodation unless the City concludes the additional leave would impose an undue hardship on the City's business. A written request for a medical leave of absence must be provided to the City Administrator along with a doctor's certification indicating the nature of the disability, its impact on the employee's ability to perform the essential functions, the need for leave as a reasonable accommodation and the anticipated length of absence.

An employee on leave of absence status shall continue to accrue continuous service but does not accrue Vacation or Sick Leave, and is not paid for Holidays. Health and life insurance coverage will cease unless the employee pays the applicable premiums; details regarding COBRA coverage would be provided at that time. The City will discontinue health insurance and other insurance coverage for employees and their dependents if the employee does not return to work after the agreed upon end of the leave of absence or after a reasonable amount of time as determined by the City (again, subject to COBRA rights).

# **5.12** Leave Due to Inclement Weather.

Absence due to an employee's inability to report for scheduled work because of severe inclement weather, conditions caused by severe inclement weather, or other significant disruptions of the transportation system shall be charged to the following in the order listed:

- Accrued vacation leave, annual leave (floating holiday) or compensatory time;
- Accrued sick leave up to a maximum of twenty four (24) hours in any calendar year.

#### **5.13** Unauthorized Absence.

An unauthorized absence will be charged to available leave in the following order:

- Accrued vacation leave, annual leave (floating holiday), compensatory time;
- Accrued sick leave, if applicable.

If the unauthorized absence is not related to protected leave, the City may treat the unauthorized absence as grounds for disciplinary action. Upon return from unauthorized absence, the employee is required to provide a written statement to the Department Manager explaining the reason for the absence. An unauthorized absence for a period of three (3) days may be considered as a resignation from employment of the City.

#### 5.14 Retirement.

In accordance with State law, all employees in a qualifying position, regardless of appointment status, will become members of the City's retirement system. Payroll deduction for employee contributions is required, regardless of anticipated length of service. Employer contributions will be made in accordance with applicable State law.

Uniformed personnel shall be members of the Washington Law Enforcement Officers and Fire Fighters Retirement System with employer contributions made in accordance with applicable State law.

#### 5.15 Wellness Program.

In accordance with City of Orting's commitment to health and safety, we have established a Wellness Program for the following purposes:

- 1) To maintain and enhance employee interest in health and safety issues.
- 2) To ensure that managers, supervisors and employees are aware through training activities that they are responsible for the prevention of workplace accidents.
- 3) To help make health and safety activities an integral part of the organization's operating procedures, culture and programs.
- 4) To provide an opportunity for discussion of health and safety problems and possible solutions.
- 5) To inform and educate employees and supervisors about health and safety issues and research findings, etc.
- 6) To help reduce the risk of workplace injuries and illnesses.
- 7) To help ensure compliance with federal and state health and safety standards.

The Wellness Committee is comprised of a cross-section of the organization employee roster. Employees interested in participating on the Committee should contact the Wellness Program Director.

To accomplish the above objectives, the Wellness Committee will:

- Develop a written mission statement in accordance with the organization's overall requirements.
- Define duties and responsibilities of committee members.
- Identify and prioritize goals and establish action plans to achieve each goal.
- Include representation from different levels and areas of the organization element.
- Meet at least monthly.
- Record and disseminate minutes of meetings, documenting attendance, problems, and issues, as well as corrective action proposed and actions taken to address each issue.
- Develop methods to increase and maintain safety awareness.
- Organize special subcommittees to address specific issues, projects or programs.
- Distribute wellness information and pamphlets to employees.
- Develop methods for employee ideas and suggestions submittals.

#### 6. EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES

Here is a summary of what the City expects from you.

# 6.01 Personal Appearance.

Employees with a neat, clean appearance are important to our operation, especially when those employees are dealing with the public. How you look is the image the public has of the City of Orting. Employees should wear clothing appropriate to their job, and present an appropriately professional image.

Some employees may be required to wear specific types of clothing due to the nature of the job or safety requirements. When in doubt, ask your supervisor for assistance in determining what is appropriate.

#### 6.02 Computer Usage.

As a City employee, you may use computers extensively in your job. A few rules are necessary so that everyone can get the maximum benefit from the City's investment in technology.

# Software

In order to protect the City of Orting's computer system from viruses and ensure that the software used is compatible with City computers, only software purchased or approved by the City may be installed on City computers. Before installing any software not purchased by the City, you must check with the City Administrator. Software purchased by the City is for legitimate City business use only. It may not be copied or taken home.

# Copyright Compliance

Software is protected from unauthorized duplication by law. The City of Orting respects the legal rights of software developers and expects employees to do the same. No employee may duplicate software, or otherwise use software other than in accordance with the terms of its license. Software that has been duplicated without authorization may not be installed on City computers.

# Electronic Media and Internet Usage

The City provides communication resources including computing resources, electronic mail (email), internet access, mobile devices, and other electronic communications equipment (collectively referred to as City Technology Resources) to employees to assist in and facilitate City business and communications. The primary purpose of the City's network and systems is to provide service to the public as part of the City's business, in a manner that is consistent with the City's vision and values. De Minimis, incidental personal use of the City's Technology Resources by employees is permitted if accomplished in compliance with the provisions of this policy, as set forth below. This policy does not address all required, allowed, or prohibited behaviors by employees, but covers common examples. In general, the City relies on the good judgment of its employees to ensure that City Technology Resources are used in the public's best interest.

# No Expectation of Privacy

By using the City's technology employees acknowledge and agree that they have no expectation of privacy or confidentiality in their use of these systems or in any data that they create, store, or transmit on or over the systems, including any data created, stored or transmitted during an employee's incidental personal use

of the technology as permitted under this policy. Employees further agree that they are aware of, understand and will comply with the provisions of this policy, and that their use of the technology can and will be monitored and any data that they create store, or transmit on or over City systems may be inspected by City management at any time. Employees should understand that certain email messages, other electronic communications, and documents created on City computer systems may be considered a public record subject to disclosure and/or subject to discovery in the event of litigation.

# Ownership and Confidentiality

All software, programs, applications, templates, data, data files and web pages residing on City computer systems or storage media or developed on City computer systems are the property of the City. The City retains the right to access, copy, modify, destroy or delete this property. Data files containing confidential or sensitive data must be treated accordingly and must not be removed from the workplace without proper authorization.

#### Acceptable Uses of City's Technology Resources

The City's technology may be used by employees or volunteers for City business. De Minimis, incidental personal use may be permitted where, in the judgment of the employee's manager, such use does not interfere with employee or department productivity, nor distract/take time away from the worker or coworkers assigned work. De Minimis, incidental personal use means: (1) it is occasional and of short duration; (2) it is done on an employee's personal time, such as on a lunch break; (3) it does not interfere with job responsibilities; (4) it does not result in any expense to City; (5) it does not solicit for or promote commercial ventures; (6) it does not utilize excessive network resources; and (7) it does not constitute any prohibited use, as discussed below.

# Prohibited Uses of the City's Technology Resources

Use of the City's technology to engage in any communication that violates federal, state, or local laws or regulations, or any City policy, is strictly prohibited at all times. In addition, the following uses of City's technology are inappropriate and are prohibited at all times, unless specifically exempted below:

- 1. Personal business or commercial use (meaning use that benefits an employee's outside employment or commercial business);
- 2. Accessing, receiving or sending pornographic, sexually explicit or indecent materials, including materials of an offensive nature;
- 3. Usage for any type of unlawful harassment or discrimination, including the transmission of obscene or harassing messages to any individual or group because of their sex, race, religion, sexual orientation, national origin, age, disability or other protected status;
- 4. Gambling;
- 5. Usage for recreational purposes including the loading of computer games or playing online games;
- 6. Usage that precludes or hampers City network performance; such as viewing or listening to streaming audio and/or video unless for City business, such as for online training;
- 7. Unauthorized copying or downloading of copyrighted material;

- 8. Usage that violates software license agreements;
- 9. Downloading of software programs unless specifically approved by applicable Manager and coordinated with the IT Manager;
- 10. Usage for political purposes, including partisan campaigning;
- 11. Sending anonymous messages and/or misrepresenting an employee's name, position, or job description;
- 12. Deliberately propagating any virus, worm, Trojan horse, malware, spyware, or other code or file designed to disrupt, disable, impair, or otherwise harm either the City's networks or systems, or those of any other individual or entity;
- 13. Releasing misleading, distorted, untrue or confidential materials regarding City business, views or actions;
- 14. Using abusive, profane, threatening, racist, sexist, or otherwise objectionable language in either public or private messages;
- 15. Use of technology resources for personal use beyond a De Minimis amount or in any manner so as to deprive others of system use or resources, including, but not limited to, the sending of bulk email for other than official business or forwarding "chain letter" emails of any kind;
- 16. Connecting to the City's network, or any specific software package, utilizing somebody else's security identification login information to gain alternate security permissions;
- 17. Any personal use, even if incidental, that results in expense to the City; and
- 18. Usage that violates the guidelines set forth in the Standards of Conduct described in this Handbook.

Any employee who violates these policies could be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. In addition, employees may be held personally liable for damages incurred as a result of copyright and licensing requirements.

#### Downloading Files from the Internet or Opening E-mail Attachments

Downloading files from the internet or opening e-mail attachments from sources outside the City can lead to spyware and/or virus attacks that can severely damage, or degrade the City's network and/or data. Antivirus and anti-spyware software does not guarantee that all spyware is blocked, or that all viruses are caught. If you are downloading a file and receive a message that a virus or spyware has been detected, you must contact the IT Manager immediately for assistance. Similarly if you receive an e-mail with a suspicious attachment, or from an unusual source, you should notify the IT Manager before opening it. If you notice that your computer is behaving strangely or you suspect spyware or a virus, notify the IT Manager.

Finally, employees are expected to not use personal cell phones, personal data devices, smartphones, tablets or similar devices during working time for personal business or commercial use.

#### **Security**

You are responsible for the Internet access and the messages sent from your account. Please log off before

leaving your computer unattended. Also bear in mind that the use of aliases while using e-mail or accessing the Internet is prohibited. It is also inappropriate to misrepresent an employee's job title, job description, or position. To prevent unauthorized use of your computer, do not give out your password to anyone and change your password on a regular basis.

# 6.03 Computer Usage Supplement: Email & Internet Etiquette Tips.

The following tips are intended to provide you with a tool when using e-mail and/or the Internet. These tips supplement the City of Orting's Computer Usage Policy.

Always be yourself. Through the use of electronic communications, we are able to embrace a new "spirit of community" within our City, as well as build and enhance relationships directly with our customers. Therefore, be as courteous, friendly and thoughtful as you would be in person. Always represent yourself as yourself - never someone else.

Use of the Internet wisely. The Internet should only be used as follows:

- Research on work related topics/issues
- Investigating City-related topics or practices of other cities
- Sending/receiving documents outside the City
- City-related purchasing
- Communicating with vendors, media, council members, residents, and other external constituencies
- Other work-related activities and information gathering

Consider your audience. Send e-mail messages only to those who need the information. This is particularly important when sending a broadcast announcement to a large group of people. Simply sending a message to City server group names without understanding the people affected potentially results in many individuals receiving and processing useless information.

Keep it brief. Learn to compose messages like a journalist writing an article. Focus on the facts, placing the most important information at the front of the memo. Attach additional information (spreadsheets, word processing documents, and graphics) via files, but pay attention to size. File attachments which are too large can be difficult or impossible to retrieve.

Remember that e-mail and the Internet are public, not private. Any message sent via e-mail can be reviewed by a third party. Therefore, do not send anything that you would be uncomfortable to communicate in public.

Be responsive. If you receive a message which requires your attention and response, reply back to the sender within a reasonable time frame. Even if you can't provide the answer to a question, let the individual know that you are working on it.

#### 6.04 Cellular Telephones.

The City may require you to use a cellular telephone in the performance of your job or in emergency situations. In either case, the City shall pay the expenses related to the purchase, lease or rental of a cellular phone. Please see your Department Manager about the procedures for purchasing the cellular telephone and related equipment and maintaining it in the City's inventory. You are responsible for taking reasonable precautions to prevent equipment theft and vandalism, including securing the equipment in a proper manner at all times.

# Use of City-Owned Cellular Telephones

The City provides cellular telephones to certain employees to improve both the services provided to the community and the communications with other City employees for City business. Therefore, City-owned cellular phones shall only be used for City purposes and/or in the event of an emergency. If personal calls have been made on the cellular phone, you must reimburse the City immediately following receipt of an invoice and prior to the time payment is due to the cellular telephone service provider. Payment shall be made to the City on a City Treasurer's receipt for permanent record keeping.

Remember that cellular telephones are not a secure method of transmitting information. You are therefore expected to use discretion in relaying confidential information. The City reserves the right to monitor the use of all City-owned telephones. If it is determined that there is an abuse of City-owned cellular telephones, then appropriate disciplinary actions will be taken.

# Use of Your Personal Cellular Telephone to Conduct City Business

Personal cellular telephone usage for City business must be authorized in advance in writing by the Department Manager and the City Administrator. Generally, you will not be reimbursed for any business-related calls unless you have received such prior written approval. All requests for reimbursement shall additionally be subject to approval by the Department Manager or City Treasurer. By using your personal cellular telephone, you assume full responsibility for any and all personal costs associated with the use of your cellular telephone service unless other arrangements are approved by the Department Manager and the City Administrator.

The records you create (i.e. text messages, voicemail messages, picture messages, etc.) by using your personal cellular phone for City business will result in the creation of public records on your personal cellular phone. By using your personal cellular phone for City business, you agree to maintain and retain all records consistent with the Public Records Act and the State retention schedule and to provide those records to the City upon request. The City may also require, and you agree, to sign an affidavit related to your search of your personal cell phone upon request should records stored on your personal cellular phone become subject to a public records request.

# Managerial Procedures

When determining whether an employee should be **required** to use a cellular telephone in the course of a job, the following factors should be considered: 1) usage costs for a cellular telephone versus alternative communication choices like pagers, voicemail, etc., and 2) the level of employee need; i.e. determine what the phone will be used for, how often will the telephone be used, the ramifications of not having a cellular phone, etc.

Cellular telephone acquisition and usage must be budgeted annually in the City's operating budget and

reviewed periodically for a more cost effective service provider or a better method of communication. In the event that a less costly, safer or more convenient alternative is made available, the cellular telephone usage will be discontinued.

#### 6.05 Use of City Property.

City supplies and equipment must be conserved for the authorized conduct of official business and for such services as are available to the public generally. By state law, they are not for personal use. City stationery, supplies and postage may not be used for personal mail.

If you are entrusted with City equipment, materials or property to use in your job, you are responsible for its proper use and maintenance. If you need to borrow or take home City property for City business, you must have authorization from your supervisor.

All communications technology is the property of the City and should be used only for official business. Please limit incoming and outgoing personal phone calls to necessary calls and keep them to a minimum. When personal, long distance use is unavoidable, you should call collect or charge the call to a home telephone or personal credit card, if possible, or log the user charges and reimburse the City for them. You are responsible for all charges incurred and are required to reimburse the City for long distance charges in the following billing cycle. Other City equipment, including vehicles, should be used by employees for City business only. An employee's misuse of City services, telephones, vehicles, equipment or supplies can result in disciplinary action including termination.

The City may provide a locker, cabinet, or desk for your personal belongings. Only City-provided locks may be used on these facilities. The City reserves the right to inspect City-owned property with or without notice, for legitimate business reasons. The City is not responsible for employee valuables, vehicles, or personal possessions brought onto City property. Please also refer to the Travel Policy.

#### 7. STANDARD OF CONDUCT AND DISCIPLINE

We all succeed at the City when we respect the needs and interests of the public, the City, and our coworkers. While the City management generally believes in progressive discipline, which calls for appropriate discipline in appropriate circumstances, the City reserves the right to review each situation independently and to make a decision on what it deems to be appropriate discipline in all cases, up to and including discharge. The City may use "coaching" or counseling initially, to be followed by more serious discipline (such as written reprimands, disciplinary probation, suspension or discharge), if the City determines that the situation is not improved or becomes more flagrant. However, in each situation, the City reserves the right to skip one or more of the steps described below. The decision to use progressive discipline in a given case is an attempt to improve the performance or behavior, but does not change the atwill nature of the employment relationship. For represented employees, the City adheres to procedures set forth in the applicable labor agreement.

Some examples of conduct that may lead to discipline or discharge include:

- Insubordination;
- Unauthorized release of City, customer or co-worker information;
- Swearing or verbal abuse while on City premises or representing the City;
- Falsification of any work, personnel, or other City records;
- Unauthorized taking or removal of City funds or property;
- Dishonesty;
- Discrimination against or harassment or retaliation of co-workers, vendors, or members of the public;
- Possession, consumption, or being under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance at work, on City premises or while representing the City;
- Deliberate damage to or misuse of City property;
- Bringing a weapon into city facilities or vehicles unless authorized to do so as part of your employment (i.e. police);
- Fighting or threatening to fight with another employee;
- Serious misconduct of any kind;
- Poor performance;
- Excessive absenteeism or tardiness or failure to report in when absent or tardy;
- Failure to comply with safety or security rules and procedures;
- Violation of City policy;
- Improper handling of cash or other financial transactions;
- Sleeping on the job;
- Failure to report immediately to your Supervisor any accident or injury which occurs on the job;
- Failure to report to work for three (3) consecutive workdays without prior notification to the City in the absence of a bona fide reason will be considered job abandonment; and
- Smoking in non-smoking areas or in City vehicles.

These examples are not all-inclusive; other behavior may also be grounds for discipline or discharge.

#### Managerial Procedures

# Verbal Counseling

Supervisors should generally notify employees verbally at least once if the employee commits a less serious offense or the supervisor sees an unacceptable trend in performance or conduct. A memorandum covering the conversation should be prepared by the supervisor for inclusion in the Employee's personnel file, and a copy of the prepared memorandum should be provided to the employee.

If the employee's performance or conduct improves, and no further verbal counseling or other disciplinary action on any issue is required for twelve months of actual service to the City thereafter, the memorandum shall be removed from the Employee's personnel file.

# Written Warning

If an employee's inadequate performance or conduct does not improve following verbal counseling, or if an employee commits a serious offense, the supervisor, after consultation with and approval from the City Administrator, should issue a formal written warning to the employee. The employee should receive the original Written Warning, and a copy should be placed in the employee's personnel file.

If the employee's performance or conduct improves, and no further verbal counseling or other disciplinary action on any issue is required for twelve (12) months of actual service to the City thereafter, the Department Manager may request that the Written Warning be removed from the Employee's personnel file. The final decision rests with the City Administrator.

# Suspension

There may be times when a suspension is appropriate. All suspensions require the advance approval of the City Administrator. Suspensions for non-exempt employees should be issued by the Department Manager or his/her designee. Only the City Administrator may suspend an exempt employee. A non-exempt employee may be suspended without pay for a period normally not to exceed five (5) work shifts. An exempt employee may be suspended without pay in increments of full workweeks. Circumstances warranting a suspension include, but are not limited to, the following:

- When the City determines the situation or violation poses an imminent danger to persons or City property or disruption to City operations.
- When the City believes that effecting a suspension may resolve a situation short of termination.

# **Termination**

If an employee fails to respond to verbal counseling and/or a written warning of inadequate performance or conduct, or if an employee commits a serious offense, the Employee may be terminated. All proposed termination actions must be reviewed by the City Administrator, City Personnel Director and receive endorsement by the Mayor.

#### Administrative Leave

The City may place an employee on administrative leave with pay for an indefinite period of time, as determined by the City Administrator to be in the best interest of the City during the period of an

investigation or other administrative proceedings. The City may require the employee to be available during their regular work shift while on administrative leave.

# 7.01 Employee Suggestions and Concerns.

We all benefit when employees have an opportunity to share both suggestions for improving our operations, and concerns about problems they may be having.

If you have an idea for improving the way we do things here at the City of Orting, please share it. It is always appropriate to share such ideas informally with your co-workers and/or supervisor. We also encourage you to write your suggestion down and submit it to the Department Manager or City Administrator.

It is our intent here at the City of Orting to try to do what is fair and reasonable at all times in our day-to-day relations with our employees. To that end, all employees, including supervisors, are urged to use the City of Orting Employee Concern System to address work related concerns. A "concern" is any question or dispute regarding the interpretation or application of the City's personnel policies and procedures, or other work-related situation. We encourage you to raise any and all work-related concerns. You will not be retaliated against for raising concerns through this process. Concerns regarding discrimination, harassment and retaliation should be raised through the complaint procedure specific to those concerns. Represented employees should use the grievance procedures in their labor agreements.

City of Orting Employee Concern System for all other concerns is set forth below. Steps must be taken in succession.

# Step One: Your Supervisor

Each employee is encouraged to take up his/her own employee concern with his/her immediate supervisor. To be sure that we are dealing with current information, please try to raise any concerns within two (2) working days of the occurrence or date that you become aware of it. If the concern is resolved at this step, your supervisor should place a memo in your personnel file regarding the resolution. If your concern involves your immediate supervisor in a way that you are reluctant to discuss it with him/her, please go directly to Step Two. If your supervisor does not respond or his/her response seems unreasonable or not satisfactory, you may go on to Step Two.

**Note**: The multi-level supervisory command structure of the Police Department shall apply for all uniformed and non-uniformed police employees as Step 1.

#### Step Two: City Administrator

If the concern cannot be resolved at Step One, you, your supervisor, or your Department Manager may refer it to the City Administrator. After your matter has been studied, and the City Administrator takes whatever steps he/she deems appropriate, he/she will then issue a written response to you, generally within twenty (20) working days of receipt of your concern at Step Two. The decision of the City Administrator will be final and binding. The final resolution will be noted in your file.

# 8. CODE OF ETHICS AND POLICY FOR REPORTING IMPROPER GOVERNMETNAL ACTION AND PROTECTING EMPLOYEES AGAINST RETALIATION

In compliance with the Local Government Employee Whistleblower Protection Act, RCW 42.41.050, the City of Orting encourages employees to disclose any improper governmental action taken by City officials or employees without fear of retaliation. The policy also safeguards legitimate employer interests by encouraging complaints to be made first to the City, with a process provided for speedy dispute resolution.

# **Key Definitions – RCW 42.41.020:**

Improper Governmental Action: Any action by a municipal official or employee that is:

- 1. Undertaken in the performance of the official's or employee's official City duties, whether or not the action is within the scope of the employee's employment, and
- 2. Is in violation of any federal, state or local law or rule; an abuse of authority, of substantial and specific danger to the public health or safety; or a gross waste of public funds, and
- 3. "Improper governmental action" does not include personnel actions including employee grievances, complaints, appointments, promotions, transfers, assignments, reassignments, reinstatements, restorations, re-employments, performance evaluations, and reductions in pay, dismissals, suspensions, demotions, and violations of collective bargaining or civil service laws, alleged violations of labor agreements or reprimands. In addition, employees are not free to disclose matters which would affect a person's right to legally-protected confidential communications, such as attorney-client privilege or executive session communications.

"Retaliatory action" means: (a) Any adverse change in a [City] employee's employment status, or the terms and conditions of employment including denial of adequate staff to perform duties, frequent staff changes, frequent and undesirable office changes, refusal to assign meaningful work, unwarranted and unsubstantiated letters of reprimand or unsatisfactory performance evaluations, demotion, transfer, reassignment, reduction in pay, denial of promotion, suspension, dismissal, or any other disciplinary action; or (b) hostile actions by another employee towards a [City] employee that were encouraged by a supervisor or senior manager or official. RCW 42.41.020(3).

**Emergency:** A circumstance that if not immediately changed may cause damage to persons or property.

# **8.01** Prohibited Conduct.

No current city employee shall engage in the following:

Disqualification from Acting on City Business.

- 1) Engage in any transaction or activity which is, or would to a reasonable person appear to be, in conflict with or incompatible with the proper discharge of official duties, or which impairs, or would to a reasonable person appear to impair, the employee's independence of judgment or action in the performance of official duties and fail to disqualify himself/herself from official action in those instances where conflict occurs;
- 2) Have a financial or other private interest, direct or indirect, personally or through a member of his/her immediate family, in any matter upon which the employee is required to act in the discharge of his/her official duties, and fail to disqualify himself/herself from acting or participating;

- 3) Fail to disqualify himself/herself from acting on any transaction which involves the City and any person who is, or at any time within the preceding twelve (12) month period has been a private client of his/hers, or of his/her firm or partnership;
- 4) Have a financial or other private interest, direct or indirect, personally or through a member of his/her immediate family, in any contract or transaction to which the city or any city agency may be a party, and fails to disclose such interest to the appropriate city authority prior to the formation of the contract or the time the city or city agency enters into the transaction; provided, that this paragraph shall not apply to any contract awarded through the public bid process in accordance with applicable law.

#### Improper Use of Official Position:

- 1) Use his/her official position for a purpose that is, or would to a reasonable person appear to be primarily for the private benefit of the employee, rather than primarily for the benefit of the city; or to achieve a private gain or an exemption from duty or responsibility for the employee or any other person;
- 2) Use or permit the use of any person, funds, or property under his/her official control, direction, or custody, or of any city funds or city property, for a purpose which is, or to a reasonable person would appear to be, for other than a city purpose; provided, that nothing shall prevent the private use of city property which is available on equal terms to the public generally (such as the use of library books or tennis courts), the use of City property in accordance with City policy for the conduct of official city business (such as the use of a city automobile), if in fact the property is used appropriately; or the use of city property for participation of the City in activities of associations of governments or governmental officials;
- 3) Except in the course of official duties, assist any person in any City transaction where such City employee's assistance is, or to a reasonable person would appear to be, enhanced by that employee's position with the city; provided that this subsection shall not apply to: any employee appearing on his/her own behalf or representing himself/herself as to any matter in which he or she has a proprietary interest, if not otherwise prohibited by law;
- 4) Regardless of prior disclosure thereof, have a financial interest, direct or indirect, personally or through a member of his/her immediate family, in a business entity doing or seeking to do business with the city, and influence or attempt to influence the selection of, or the conduct of business with, such business entity by the city.

#### Accept Gifts or Loans:

1) Solicit or receive any retainer, gift, loan, entertainment, favor, or other thing of monetary value from any person or entity where the retainer, gift, loan, entertainment, favor, or other thing of monetary value has been solicited, or received or given or, to a reasonable person, would appear to have been solicited, received or given with intent to give or obtain special consideration or influence as to any action by such employee in his/her official capacity.

#### Disclose Privileged Information:

1) Disclose or use any privileged or proprietary information gained by reason of his/her official position for the immediate or anticipated personal gain or benefit of the employee or any other person or entity; provided, that nothing shall prohibit the disclosure or use of information which is a matter of public knowledge, or which is available to the public on request.

# Hold Financial or Beneficial Interest in City Transaction:

1) Regardless of prior disclosure thereof hold or acquire a beneficial interest, direct or indirect, personally or through a member of his/her immediate family, in any contract which, in whole or

in part, is, or which may be, made by, through, or under the supervision of such employee; or accept, directly or indirectly, any compensation, gratuity, or reward in connection with such contract from any other person or entity beneficially interested therein.

# **8.02** Prohibited Conduct After Leaving City.

No former employee shall after leaving City office or employment:

- 1) Disclose or use any privileged, confidential, or proprietary information gained by reason of his/her city employment for his/her gain or anticipated gain, or for the gain or anticipated gain of any person, unless the information is a matter of public knowledge or is available to the public on request;
- 2) Assist any person in proceedings involving the agency of the City with which he/she was previously employed, involving a matter in which he or she was officially involved, participated or acted in the course of duty for a period of one (1) year after leaving employment and subject to subsection 1 above;
- 3) Represent any person as an advocate in any matter in which the former employee was officially involved while a City employee for a period of one (1) year after leaving employment and subject to subsection 1 above;
- 4) Participate as a competitor in any competitive selection process for a City contract in which he or she assisted the City in determining the project or work to be done or the process to be used for a period of one (1) year after leaving employment and subject to subsection 1 above.

# **8.03** Procedure for Reporting Improper Government Action.

City employees who become aware of Improper Governmental Action should follow this procedure:

- 1. Bring the matter to the attention of his/her supervisor, if the supervisor is not involved in the matter, in writing, stating in detail the basis for the employee's belief that an improper action has occurred. This should be done as soon as the employee becomes aware of the improper action.
- 2. Where the employee believes the improper action involves the supervisor, the employee may raise the issue directly with the City Administrator, City Personnel Director, or the Mayor. The complaint should be in writing, stating in detail the basis for the employee's belief that an improper action has occurred.
- 3. After an investigation is completed, the employee will normally be advised of the results of the investigation; however, personnel actions taken as a result of the investigation may be kept as confidential as possible, however, records related to such investigation may still be subject to disclosure under a public records request.

In the case of an emergency, where the employee believes that damage to persons or property may be imminent if action is not taken immediately, the employee may report information about Improper Governmental Action directly to the appropriate government agency with responsibility for investigating the improper action.

City employees who fail to make a good-faith attempt to follow the City's procedures in reporting improper governmental conduct shall not receive the protection against discipline provided by the City in these procedures.

### Complaints, Investigations, Review and Enforcement

Any person may file a complaint alleging a violation of this policy.

The complaint shall be in writing stating the nature of the alleged violation(s), the date(s), time and place of each occurrence, and name of the person(s) charged with the violation(s). The complaint shall be presented to the City Administrator, City Personnel Director, or the Mayor who shall provide a copy to the person charged with a violation. The complainant shall provide the City with all available documentation or other evidence to demonstrate a reason for believing that a violation has occurred.

This policy is intended to protect employees who choose to come forward in good faith with complaints about governmental actions and conduct of City of Orting employees. Anonymous complaints have the potential to subject the person who is the subject of the complaint to an investigation that may, at the least, cause stress and embarrassment, and may, at most, result in discipline or termination of employment. The City is reluctant to begin an investigation based on an anonymous complaint due to the fact that evidence will be difficult to obtain and verify, and it will be impossible to assess the complainant's credibility. Complainants and whistleblowers have protection from retaliation under City policy, and a thorough investigation of such complaints is the City's goal. It is difficult, if not impossible, to conduct a thorough investigation when a complainant remains anonymous. Therefore, the City reserves the right to decline to investigate any complaint that is provided anonymously. If a complaint is received anonymously it shall be referred to the City Attorney for a recommendation on the processing of the complaint. Upon review of the complaint, the City Attorney will recommend to the City Administrator either that the complaint has no merit or that it should be investigated.

Within a reasonable time after receipt of a complaint, the City Administrator or another person appointed by the City Administrator shall conduct a preliminary investigation. If the City Administrator or City Attorney are implicated in the complaint, the Mayor will determine who will conduct the City's investigation. Criminal allegations will be referred to the proper law enforcement agency.

If the City Administrator determines, after preliminary investigation, that there are no reasonable grounds to believe that a violation has occurred, the City Administrator shall dismiss the complaint. If the City Administrator does so dismiss the complaint, he or she shall do so in writing, setting forth the facts and provisions of law upon which the dismissal is based, and shall provide a copy of the written dismissal to the complainant and to the person charged with the violation.

Within a reasonable time after a complaint is received, the City Administrator shall issue a written determination stating whether the policy has been violated and setting forth the facts and the provisions of law upon which this determination is based. A copy of said determination shall be delivered to the complainant and to the person charged with the violation.

If the City Administrator determines that an employee has violated the provisions of this policy, the City Administrator may subject the employee to disciplinary action. In addition to any other penalty herein or otherwise provided by law, a violation shall be cause for suspension, discharge, or removal from employment, or such other disciplinary action as may, by the appropriate city authority, be deemed necessary and proper, and consistent with personnel ordinances and rules; provided, that this section shall not derogate from employee rights under any collective bargaining agreement or city personnel ordinance, or rules promulgated thereunto.

# Protection Against Retaliatory Actions

City of Orting officials, Department Managers and employees are prohibited from taking retaliatory action against an employee because he/she has in good faith reported an improper governmental action in accordance with these policies and procedures. Employees who believe that they have been retaliated against for reporting an improper governmental action should advise in writing their supervisor, the City Administrator or his/her designee. City of Orting officials, Department Managers and supervisors shall take appropriate action to investigate and address complaints of retaliation.

If the employee's supervisor, the City Administrator, or his/her designee, as the case may be, does not satisfactorily resolve an employee's complaint that he/she has been retaliated against in violation of this policy, the employee may obtain protection under this policy and pursuant to state law by providing a written notice to the City of Orting's City Council that:

- a) Specifies the alleged retaliatory action and
- b) Specifies the relief requested.

City of Orting employees shall promptly provide a copy of their written charge to their Department Manager. The City of Orting shall timely respond to the written charge of retaliatory action. After receiving either the response of the City of Orting or thirty (30) days after the delivery of the charge to the City of Orting, the employee may request a hearing before a state administrative law judge to establish that a retaliatory action occurred and to obtain appropriate relief provided by law. An employee seeking a hearing should deliver the request for hearing to the City Administrator within the earlier of either fifteen (15) days of delivery of the City of Orting's response to the charge of retaliatory action, or forty-five (45) days of delivery of the charge of retaliation to the City of Orting for response. Upon receipt of request for hearing, the City of Orting shall apply within five (5) working days to the State Office of Administrative Hearings for an adjudicative proceeding before an administrative law judge:

Office of Administrative Hearings PO Box 42488, 4224 Sixth S.E. Rowe Six, Building 1 Lacey, WA 98504-2488 (206) 459-6353

The City of Orting will consider any recommendation provided by the administrative law judge that the retaliator be suspended with or without pay, or dismissed.

#### **8.04** Conflict of Interest and Outside Employment.

Employees shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in any outside employment or possess a financial interest which may conflict, in the City Administrator's opinion, with the best interests of the City of Orting or interfere with the employee's ability to perform his/her assigned City job. Examples include, but are not limited to, outside employment which:

- 1. Prevents the employee from being available for work beyond normal working hours, such as during emergencies or peak work periods, when such availability is a regular part of the employee's job;
- 2. Is conducted during the employee's work hours;
- 3. Utilizes City telephones, cellular telephones, computers, supplies or any other City resource,

- facilities or equipment;
- 4. Involves employment with a firm which has contracts with or does business with the City; or
- 5. May reasonably be perceived by members of the public as creating a conflict of interest or one which otherwise discredits public service.

This policy shall be interpreted in accordance with, Chapter 42.23 RCW, the Washington State Code of Ethics for Municipal Officers.

#### 8.05 Confidentiality.

During your employment with the City, you will have access to confidential or proprietary information about the City, its employees and possibly its citizens. It is a violation of City policy to misappropriate such information for your personal use or the use of another third party. Employees must exercise the highest degree of care in safeguarding confidential or proprietary information, and may not use or disclose such information except as necessary to perform their job duties or as required by law such as in response to a Public Records Request. Violation of this confidentiality policy will be grounds for discipline up to and including termination.

# **8.06** Contact with News Media.

The Mayor, City Administrator or City Attorney shall be responsible for <u>all</u> official contacts with the news media, including answering of questions from the media. The City Administrator may designate specific employees to give out procedural, factual or historical information on particular subjects. City employees will refrain at all times from disclosing confidential City information to the media. A violation of this provision may subject an employee to discipline, including termination.

#### 9. HEALTH, SAFETY AND SECURITY

#### 9.01 Workplace Health & Safety.

The City of Orting wants to provide you with a safe and healthy work environment, and we need your help to do that. The following is basic safety information. Consult with the City Personnel Director if you need more information.

- If you are injured on the job, no matter how minor, you must let the City Personnel Director know on the same day, and fill out an accident report as soon as possible.
- Learn and follow all safety procedures promulgated by the City's Safety Committee.
- Report any unsafe condition or damage to property on the same day observed to the City Personnel Director.
- Become familiar with any Material Safety Data Sheets applicable to your job.
- Learn proper procedures for heavy lifting and adhere to them.
- Keep your individual work area clean and orderly. Untidiness and clutter invite accidents.
- Know and follow the safety rules established for your job. When in doubt, ask before proceeding.
- Do not allow unauthorized persons to operate equipment or have access to restricted areas.
- If you are assigned to a job requiring protective clothing or equipment, use it without fail. Always dress in a way that will not invite job-related injuries.
- Store all materials and equipment in their proper areas.

# 9.02 Safety & Health Program.

As required by Washington law, anyone operating or riding in City vehicles must wear a seat belt at all times.

Safety is the responsibility of every City employee. Each employee must be alert to any condition which poses a potential threat to a safe and healthful working environment, and must take appropriate action to eliminate these conditions where they exist. Supervisors and other members of the City's management team have the following safety-related responsibilities

- Maintain a safe and healthful working environment.
- Conduct an ongoing accident prevention program.
- Investigate, record and report work-related injuries and illnesses.
- Develop proper attitudes toward safety and health in themselves and in those they supervise.
- Ensure that all work processes and procedures are performed with the utmost regard for safety and health.
- Ensure that all employees are oriented and properly trained in the safe performance of their job.
- Communicate and comply with City safety regulations and legal requirements.

# 9.03 Smoke-Free Workplace.

For health and safety considerations, the City prohibits smoking by employees in all City vehicles and facilities, including City-owned buildings and offices or other facilities rented or leased by the City, including individual employee offices. A smoke-free environment helps create a safe and healthy workplace. This policy covers the smoking of any tobacco, smoke, or marijuana product and the use of

such products including but not limited to cigarettes, cigars, snuff, smoking tobacco, "spit" tobacco, vape products, electronic smoking devices, e-cigarettes, and marijuana.

Outdoor Smoking Restrictions: Chapter 70.160 RCW significantly restricts the outdoor areas where individuals may smoke in relation to the location of City buildings, work areas and public places. Smoking is prohibited within twenty five (25) feet of any entrances, exits, windows that open, and ventilation intakes that serve an enclosed area where smoking is prohibited. The law also applies to any "place of employment," which the law defines, in part, as "work areas" and any area which employees are required to pass through during the course of employment. The following direction identifies where and when City employees may and may not smoke.

- 1. Because the law prohibits any person from smoking at a place of employment, members of work crews are prohibited by law from smoking at any worksite locations. While at a worksite, an employee may only smoke while on his/her break, and the employee must be at least twenty five (25) feet from other working City employees. An employee who is on a break must be at least twenty five (25) feet from all entrances, exits, windows that open, and ventilation intakes that serve an enclosed area in order to smoke
- 2. Smoking on City Property is prohibited.

#### 9.04 Drug-Free Workplace.

This policy is intended to comply with the federal Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988 and with federal Department of Transportation regulations governing commercial drivers. The City is committed to maintaining a drug and alcohol free work environment for the safety of all employees and citizens. This policy applies to all City of Orting employees except that employees included in bargaining units are subject to drug testing only if:

- 1) The labor contract covering them specifically allows for such testing; or
- 2) The issue of drug testing has been legally bargained to final impasse; or
- 3) A written agreement between management and the employee's bargaining agent has been signed and executed to provide for drug testing.

All other provisions of this policy, apart from the limits to drug testing as specified above, shall apply to all City employees.

Employees are strictly prohibited from possessing, selling, consuming, or being under the influence of any controlled substance or alcohol while on City property, in City vehicles, or engaged in City work. If an employee is taking prescription drugs or under prescribed medical treatment that makes the employee drowsy or impairs the employee's mental functioning in any way, the employee must inform the City Personnel Director in advance of reporting to work. Any violation of this policy may result in discipline, up to and including termination.

When there are reasonable grounds to believe that the employee is under the influence of alcohol or drugs, the supervisor may direct the employee to submit to drug screening and blood alcohol tests. Refusal to submit to such tests can subject the employee to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. Under no circumstances will an employee be allowed to operate City equipment or motor vehicle after a supervisor has reasonable grounds to believe that the employee is impaired.

It is the responsibility of employees who are called out to work after regular hours to comply with the provisions of this policy. If the employee called out to work has been involved in activities that may have left him/her in an impaired or intoxicated condition, the employee must inform the person making the call out. An on-call employee who consumes alcohol within four hours of being called in must acknowledge the use of alcohol and may not report for duty.

An employee who is on-call and who becomes impaired during the on-call time will not receive compensation for such on-call time. An employee who is on-call and who becomes impaired during the on-call time may be subject to discipline up to and including termination. An employee should conduct themselves during on-call time as they would during at-work hours (i.e. refrain from consuming alcohol or drugs).

# 9.05 Assistance Program / Voluntary Referral.

The City of Orting supports employees who volunteer for treatment of alcohol or drug abuse. Employees are encouraged to seek treatment voluntarily and to utilize the Employee Assistance Program (EAP). Any employee who comes forth and notifies the City Orting of alcohol or drug abuse problems will be given the assistance extended to employees with any other illness. Any such program, however, may not interfere with the tests required by these rules. For example, a driver may not identify himself/herself as unfit to drive after having been notified of a random or reasonable suspicion test and expect to avoid the consequences for a positive test or a refusal to test. In addition, voluntarily seeking assistance does not excuse any failure to comply with all of the provisions of this policy or other policies of the city. Sick leave, vacation leave or leave of absence without pay will be granted for treatment and rehabilitation as in other illnesses subject to City of Orting policy and/or contract language governing use of leave. Insurance coverage for treatment will be provided to the extent of individual coverage. Confidentiality of information will be maintained as much as possible at all times.

# 9.06 Compliance with Drug Free Workplace Act.

It is the policy of the City of Orting to comply with the Federal Drug Free Workplace Act of 1988. Toward that end, the following provisions and procedures shall be in effect:

- a) In the event that an employee is convicted of any criminal drug statutory violation for a violation occurring in the workplace, the employee must notify his/her supervisor within five (5) working days. The supervisor must inform his/her Department Manager within twenty four (24) hours of the notification. The Department Manager will notify the City Administrator immediately. If the employee is directly involved in the performance of a contract for which the City receives federal funding, the contracting agency must be informed of the incident in writing within ten (10) days of the employer's notice. A copy of the notification shall be sent to the City Administrator. The City of Orting is responsible to take appropriate disciplinary action and/or to require the employee to seek approved drug abuse treatment or rehabilitation within thirty (30) days of receiving notice of the employee's conviction.
- b) All employees shall receive a copy of this policy. All employees will be required to sign a statement acknowledging that they have received a copy of this policy.
- c) The City will make information and education on the prevention of alcohol and drug abuse available to its employees.

# 9.07 Compliance with Federal Regulations Applicable to Commercial Drivers.

It is the policy of the City of Orting to comply with the Federal Department of Transportation regulations (Title 49, CFR subtitle B, chapter 382) which mandate prohibited behaviors and employer responsibilities for employee's holding safety sensitive positions which require the possession of a valid commercial driver's license.

Prohibited Behaviors - In addition to any other prohibitions on the use of alcohol or controlled substances established through City policy or by contract, the following behaviors by employees whose positions require the possession of a valid commercial driver's license are prohibited and will be subject to discipline:

- a) Alcohol Concentration: Reporting to duty and performing safety-sensitive functions while having an alcohol concentration of 0.01 or greater.
- b) Alcohol Possession: Unauthorized possession of alcohol while on duty or operating a commercial motor vehicle unless the alcohol is an insignificant ingredient in a medication that is either prescribed or a commonly recognized over-the-counter remedy and notice has been given to the employee's Department Manager in advance.
- c) Alcohol Use Following an Accident: Use of alcohol within eight (8) hours following an accident or before undergoing a post-accident alcohol test, whichever occurs first.
- d) Alcohol Use on Duty: Use of Alcohol while performing safety-sensitive functions including alcohol which may be in medications.
- e) Alcohol Use Prior to Duty: Performing safety sensitive functions within four (4) hours after having used alcohol. An on-call employee who consumes alcohol within four (4) hours of being called in must acknowledge the use of alcohol and may not report for duty.
- f) Controlled Substance (Drug) Use: Reporting for duty or remaining on duty performing safety-sensitive functions after having used any controlled substance, except when the use is pursuant to the instructions of a physician who has advised the driver that the substance does not adversely affect the driver's ability to safely operate a commercial motor vehicle. The proper and lawful use of drugs is permitted provided their use does not interfere with the individual's ability to perform the essential functions of his/her job. Any employee taking prescribed medication that may impair his/her ability to work safely and productively must notify his/her Department Manager prior to commencing to work. The Department Manager, in consultation with the employee's physician, if necessary, will make the determination regarding the employee's qualifications to work. Information provided to the Department Manager will be treated as confidential. Disclosure by the City will only be required by law or in the event of a proceeding initiated on behalf of the employee. Failure to notify the Department Manager in advance of commencing to work will be cause for disciplinary action up to and including discharge.
- g) Positive Drug Test: Reporting for duty, remaining on duty, or performing safety sensitive functions after having tested positive for a controlled substance.
- h) Refusal to Submit to a Required Test: Refusing to submit to a post-accident, random, reasonable suspicion, or follow-up alcohol or controlled substance test as directed pursuant to this policy.
- i) Tampering with a Required Test: An employee may not tamper with, adulterate, alter, substitute or otherwise obstruct any testing process required under this policy.

Mandatory Training for Commercial Drivers - The City shall provide all affected employees with copies of this policy and any other information as required by the federal regulations. Each driver shall sign a receipt upon having been provided the above referenced information including a copy of this manual and accompanying procedures for drug testing. Department Managers and supervisors designated to determine whether reasonable suspicion exists to require a commercial driver to undergo alcohol or drug testing will

receive at least sixty (60) minutes of training on alcohol and sixty (60) additional minutes of training on substance abuse. The training will convey the physical, behavioral, speech, and performance indicators of probable alcohol misuse and use of controlled substances.

# 9.08 Drug and Alcohol Testing Program for CDL Drivers.

- a) Pre-employment Drug Testing: All individuals who are covered by this policy must pass a drug test as a post-offer condition of employment.
- b) Reasonable Suspicion Testing: Employees subject to this policy shall submit to a drug and/or alcohol test when the employee's supervisor, City Personnel Director, or City Administrator reasonably suspects that this policy (except the prohibitions against unauthorized possession, transfer or sale of alcohol) may have been or is presently being violated. A referral for testing will be based on contemporaneous, articulable observations. Such referrals will be made by supervisory personnel who have received training concerning the signs and symptoms of drug and alcohol use. Alcohol testing for reasonable suspicion may be conducted at any time during working hours. If removed from duty based on reasonable suspicion of alcohol use and an alcohol test is not administered within eight hours, the employee will not be allowed to perform or continue to perform covered functions until:
  - 1) An alcohol test is administered (normally within two (2) hours of the determination of reasonable suspicion) and the driver's breath alcohol concentration measures less than .01; or
  - 2) Twenty four (24) hours have elapsed following the determination that there is reasonable suspicion to believe that the employee has violated this policy concerning the use of alcohol.
- c) Post-Accident Testing: Following an accident (as defined above) involving a commercial vehicle, the driver is required to submit to alcohol and drug tests when the driver receives a citation under state or local law for a moving traffic violation, or where a fatality occurs as a result of the accident. Testing should occur as soon as possible, but may not exceed eight (8) hours after the accident for alcohol testing and thirty two (32) hours after the accident for drug testing. A driver who is subject to post-accident testing must remain readily available for such testing and may not take any action to interfere with testing or the results of testing. Drivers who do not comply with post-accident testing requirements will be considered to have refused to submit to testing and will be subject to sanctions for refusal to test as provided in this policy. While awaiting a post-accident test, the driver will be in a paid status.
- d) Random Testing: Employees covered by this policy will be subject to random, unannounced alcohol and drug testing.
- e) Return to Duty Testing: Employees who have violated this policy, including those who have tested positive on a drug or alcohol test, and who under the discipline policy are allowed to return to work, must test negative prior to being released for duty.
- f) Follow-up Testing: An employee who is referred for assistance related to alcohol misuse and/or use of drugs is subject to unannounced follow-up testing for a period as directed by a substance abuse professional. The number and frequency of follow-up testing will be based on the recommendation of the substance abuse professional, but will not be less than six tests in the first twelve (12) months following the employee's return to duty.
- g) Re-Tests: Employees who test positive for drugs may request a second test of the untested portion of the split sample within seventy two (72) hours of notification of a positive test result by the Medical Review Officer (MRO).

- h) Test Results: Test results will be expressed as positive or negative based on detection of levels of alcohol or controlled substances as established by Federal Department of Transportation standards.
- i) Challenges to Test Results: An employee who wishes to challenge a positive drug test must do so within seventy two (72) hours of notification of the positive result. The employee must notify the MRO that he/she wishes to challenge the test and must pay for the retest. The retest must be processed at a DHHS-NIDA-certified laboratory. If the MRO certifies that the second drug test is negative, an employee will be reimbursed for the cost incurred including any lost compensation.

# 9.09 Refusal by a Commercial Driver to Submit to an Alcohol or Drug Test.

Refusal to submit to a directed test is a prohibited behavior shall subject the employee to appropriate discipline. A refusal to submit shall include:

- a) Failure to provide adequate breath for testing without a valid medical explanation after an employee has received notice of the requirement for breath testing in accordance with established procedures;
- b) Failure to provide adequate urine for controlled substances testing without a valid medical explanation after an employee has received notice of the requirement for urine testing in accordance with the procedures manual; and/or
- c) Engaging in conduct that obstructs the testing process.

# 9.10 Securing Information from Previous Employers.

If a person is to be hired into a position subject to this policy and during the previous two (2) years has worked as a driver of a commercial vehicle, that person must authorize a request of all employers of the driver within the past two (2) years of information on the following: a) positive alcohol or drug tests; or b) refusal to be tested. The City of Orting will make a good faith effort to obtain and review the information from prior employers within 14 days of the person performing safety sensitive duties for the first time. If the information obtained from previous employer indicates either a positive test or that a refusal to be tested occurred within the past two (2) years, that person will not be permitted to drive commercial vehicles unless subsequent information indicates that an evaluation by a substance abuse professional was made and return to duty testing was administered.

# 9.11 Consequences for CDL Drivers of Engaging in Prohibited Behaviors and/or of Positive Drug or Alcohol Test Results.

Employees found to have engaged in prohibited behavior or to have tested positive for drugs shall be subject to discipline up to and including termination from employment. The following provisions apply to those employees who are not terminated for their policy violations:

- a) If an employee tests positive for drugs or has an alcohol test that indicates a breath alcohol level of .04 or greater or any amount of THC or other drugs not prescribed by a doctor from a random, reasonable suspicion or post-accident test, or engages in prohibited conduct, the employee will be immediately removed from duties requiring the driving of a commercial vehicle. The employee will not be permitted to return to work unless he/she:
  - 1) Has been evaluated by a qualified substance abuse professional; and,
  - 2) If recommended by a substance abuse professional, has properly followed any rehabilitation prescribed; and,

- 3) Has a verified negative result on a return-to-duty alcohol and/or drug test. Upon completion of a recommended rehabilitation program and successful return to work, an employee will be subject to follow-up random testing as recommended by the substance abuse professional, with a minimum of six (6) such unscheduled tests within the first twelve (12) months of returning to duty.
- b) Employees with a positive breath alcohol concentration shall be removed from the duty requiring the driving of a commercial vehicle for at least twenty four (24) hours. The time away from work shall be charged to vacation, sick leave, or leave without pay at the employee's option, and will be considered an unscheduled absence.

# 9.12 Workplace Privacy/Searches.

The City cannot assume responsibility for any theft or damage to the personal belongings of City employees. Therefore, the City requests that employees avoid bringing valuable personal articles to work. Employees are solely responsible for ensuring that their personal belongings are secure while at work. Employees are further advised that work-related searches of an employee's work area, workspace, computer and/or electronic files on City property may be conducted without notice. Employees should have no expectation of privacy as to such items or locations.

#### 9.13 Accident, Incident, & Claims Reporting Procedures.

It is essential that all accidents and incidents are reported promptly and accurately. The City is *continuously* committed to maintaining a safe environment for their residents, users of city facilities and employees.

# **Incident Reporting**

Make accurate notes and record all details of any incident observed or brought to your attention. Report incidents on the same day. Be observant and accurate. Take pictures if possible.

Serious incidents shall be phoned in to the Department Manager, City Personnel Director or City Administrator's office immediately. A few examples of incidents that are required to be reported immediately are: any serious injury involving City property or personnel, auto or pedestrian injury, downed stop sign accident, police shootings, and large property loss. *Do not admit liability or state that the City will take care of the damages*.

# Communicating With the Public about Incidents

An individual may come into City Hall wanting the "employee's opinion" as to what to do regarding an incident involving City liability. It is the policy of the City to respond in the following manner: If a member of the public feels the City is responsible for damages, then that individual has the right to file a claim. The City Administrator's office must be notified immediately of any inquiry being made so that a brief interview with the individual can be conducted. **Do not admit liability or state that the City will take care of the damages. Refer all questions to the City Administrator's office**. Do not discuss the incident with anyone other than your supervisor or other authorized personnel. Citizens that inquire about damages are to be given the insurance *Tort Form*.

# 9.14 Inclement Weather.

The public's need for our services may be especially great during inclement weather. Therefore, it is particularly important for employees to report to work in a safe manner during inclement weather if the

City does not declare an emergency closure. We do not want you to jeopardize your safety, however, if you cannot get to work or are delayed and you should try to reach your Department Manager as soon as possible to let him/her know. Non-exempt employees who are unable to get to work because of inclement weather conditions will be granted an authorized unpaid absence or may use vacation time. Non-exempt employees who arrive less than two (2) hours late because of inclement weather will paid for their normal time. If you are more than two (2) hours late, you will be given a chance to make up the time if schedules and conditions permit. If you are released early by authorization of the Mayor or City Administrator due to weather conditions, you will be paid for the unworked time.

### Managerial Procedures

"Inclement weather" is defined as weather such as high winds, heavy rain, heavy snow, etc. Any employee unable to report to work, with prior approval of the supervisor, will be given the opportunity to make up the time during the same workweek, or may charge the time as they choose to accrued compensatory time; accrued vacation leave; or leave without pay. You should follow the same practice for emergencies. An "emergency" is defined as any condition which is beyond the control of the City as declared by the City Mayor, or his/her designee, such as earthquakes, explosions, major fires and an airplane crash. (This is only an illustrative list.) Employees who have reported to work and are released from work during an emergency situation shall be given the opportunity to make up the time during the same work week, or shall charge the time of such absence as listed above.

# 9.15 Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness.

Knowing what to do in an emergency increases the chances that you and everyone else will come through safely. Meanwhile, please keep the following in mind.

If you are advised to evacuate the building, either for a drill or in an actual emergency, do so calmly but swiftly and stay out of the building until you are advised that you may return.

In case of an earthquake, drop to the ground, seek protective cover under or near desks, tables or chairs in a kneeling or sitting position with hands holding onto table or chair legs. Stay there until movement ends.

In case of fire, turn on the alarm and leave the building through the closest available door. Do not try to put out the fire unless you are professionally trained.

In the case of an emergency, such as an earthquake, flood, winter storm and power outage, an employee may be required to report to the Emergency Operations Center (EOC).

#### 10. CHANGES IN EMPLOYMENT

Here at the City of Orting, we want change to be a positive experience.

# 10.01 Promotion, Demotion, and Transfer.

It benefits both you and the City for you to be doing the job for which you are best suited. Accordingly, the City looks for opportunities for employees to move within the organization.

#### **Promotion**

The City may fill vacancies above the entry level from within. Current employees receive first consideration for openings for which they have the knowledge, skills, and abilities, unless outside recruitment seems advisable. Vacant jobs are normally posted in the applicable Department and in City Hall. You may apply for a vacant position through the Human Resources office. If you apply for an open position, you generally will go through the City's normal recruitment and selection process. A promotion normally entails a wage increase.

#### **Demotion**

Occasionally, it may be necessary for an employee to move to a lower paying job. This normally occurs when the employee is not satisfactorily performing the essential functions of the current job. It may also occur in lieu of layoff, when there is a lower paying position available. An employee is eligible for a demotion only if he or she possesses the minimum qualifications for the position. Demotion to a position in a lower classification is normally accompanied by a salary reduction to a level commensurate with the new position.

# Transfer

Vacant positions may also be filled through lateral transfer of qualified employees. A voluntary transfer request will be considered if the employee meets the requirements of the new position, has held the current position for at least six (6) months, has a satisfactory performance record and has had no disciplinary actions during the six (6) month period. If you are interested in a transfer, submit a written request for a transfer to your Department Manager, including the reason for the request, and the department and specific position desired. Your request will be forwarded to the Human Resource Office with a recommendation. Normal recruitment and selection procedures generally will be followed as with a promotion.

# 10.02 Layoff and Recall.

Unfortunately, there may be times when the City must reduce employment because of lack of work, lack of funds, considerations of efficiency or other business reasons. Such reductions may result in layoffs. Layoffs may be temporary or permanent. Layoffs for represented employees will be handled in accordance with their labor agreements.

In making layoff selections for non-represented personnel, the City will generally lay off temporary employees, part-time employees and those with less than six (6) months of actual service in the affected job classification before laying off regular full-time personnel with more than six (6) months of service in the affected job classification. In making layoff decisions affecting full-time, non-represented employees with more than six (6) months of service to the City, the City may consider a number of factors, including seniority, job performance, and the extent to which each employee has the skills and abilities necessary to

do the remaining work as determined solely by the City in its discretion.

While Collective Bargaining Agreements may generally require layoff by seniority, it is usually in the employer's interest to maximize its ability to retain the "best" employees - sometimes that's those with the most seniority and sometimes it's not. The City may deviate from this selection order if the best interests of the City so dictate. Employees who have actually worked for the City for more than six (6) months and who have been selected for layoff will be given thirty (30) days' notice when possible. Employees with less than six (6) months of actual service to the City who have been selected for layoff will be give one (1) weeks' notice when possible. The City, in its discretion, may provide employees selected for layoff with payment in lieu of notice.

Laid off employees will be maintained on a recall list for one (1) year or until management determines the layoff is permanent, whichever occurs first. While laid off, an employee should make sure Human Resources has a current address, and let them know if you are unavailable for recall to the same position. Employees have seven (7) days after notice of recall to respond to the notice, or their names will be removed from the list. Further information about benefits, seniority and recall rights will be shared with you if you are chosen for layoff.

# 10.03 Separation from Employment.

The employment relationship between the City and its employees is voluntary. All employees have the right to end the employment relationship if they deem it appropriate. Likewise, for all employees except those covered by a written agreement that modifies at-will status, the City can end the relationship at any time for any reason it deems appropriate.

# Resignation

If you decide to leave the employ of the City, please give written notice to your supervisor. Employees failing to give appropriate written notice may be ineligible for rehire. Supervisory and managerial employees should give four (4) weeks' written notice. All other employees should give at least two (2) weeks' written notice.

# 10.04 Separation Procedures.

Separating and laid off employees will be asked to participate in an exit interview with a member of the City management staff on or before their last day of work to explore such issues as the reasons for the separation, the employee's suggestions for improving working conditions, any benefits issues, and to collect City property. Separating employees who desire the City to provide references on their employment will be asked to sign an authorization and release form for that purpose. References other than job title and dates of employment will not be given without such a release. Final pay checks are paid the next regular pay day.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Again, we welcome you to your employment here at the City of Orting. We are pleased to have you on our team. We hope that this Personnel Policies and Procedures Manual has answered questions that you may have about our workplace. Please feel free at any time to present any questions to your supervisor. We look forward to working with you.

#### CITY OF ORTING ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT

I have received the City of Orting Personnel Policies and Procedures Manual ("Manual") and understand that it is my responsibility to read these policies and ask questions about anything I do not understand.

I acknowledge that these policies are general guidelines only. They do not promise specific treatment in specific circumstances, they do not create an employment contract, and they do not guarantee employment for any length of time with the City. I understand, however, that the Manual contains policies that are very important to the City's ability to provide a lawful and respectful work environment. I have reviewed the policies in the Manual, including but not limited to the Anti-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment policies, and I agree to comply with those policies. I understand that violation of City policies may result in discipline, up to and including discharge, subject to legal and collective bargaining agreement requirements.

I acknowledge that the City must be flexible in responding to the needs of the public or changes in the law, and that the City has therefore reserved the right to revise, supplement, clarify, deviate from or rescind any policy or portion of a policy when deemed appropriate by the City and in accordance with any applicable collective bargaining obligations.

The City does not have the authority to modify at-will employment status until that modification is in writing and signed by the City Administrator and/or City Council.

I understand that if I am covered by a collective bargaining agreement, then that contract will control in the event of any conflict with the policies in this Manual and that the agreement is the exclusive source of information regarding my benefits with the City.

Date:	Employee:		
		(Print name)	
Signature:			